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1 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I guess we are i n 

2 session. I'm Robert Balch, the designee of the Secretary 

3 of Energy. To my r i g h t i s Scott Dawson, the designee of 

4 the State Land Commissioner, and t o h i s r i g h t i s Florene 

5 Davidson, Commission Clerk. To my l e f t i s Commission 

6 Counsel. 

7 We do the minutes f i r s t ? 

8 MR. BRANCARD: Yes. 

9 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Have you had a 

10 chance t o read the minutes? 

11 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have. 

12 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I have, as w e l l . 

13 Do I have a motion t o accept the minutes? 

14 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. 

15 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I w i l l second the 

16 motion, and i t i s adopted. And I w i l l sign i n place of 

17 Jami t o adopt the minutes from the August 28th Commission 

18 hearing. 

19 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: Do you need t o 

2 0 announce the hearing number? 

21 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do I need t o 

22 announce the number? 

23 MR. BRANCARD: No. 

24 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I w i l l t r a n s f e r 

25 them t o the Commission Clerk. 
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On the docket today we have Case 14 72 0, which 

2 w i l l be continued t o the October 25th, 2012, Commission 

3 meeting. We also have Case 14763, de novo a p p l i c a t i o n of 

4 Mack Energy f o r compulsory p o o l i n g , Lea County, New 

5 Mexico. I guess I ' l l ask f o r appearances. 

6 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, Jim Bruce, of 

7 Santa Fe, representing the a p p l i c a n t , i n a s s o c i a t i o n w i t h 

8 Joel Carson, general counsel of Mack Energy Corporation. 

9 MR. HALL: And Commissioners, my name i s 

10 Scott H a l l , w i t h the Montgomery & Andrews Law Firm, here 

11 i n Santa Fe, appearing on behalf of Siana O i l and Gas, 

12 LLP, and Mr. Tom Ragsdale. 

13 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any other 

14 appearances? 

15 A l l r i g h t . Mr: Bruce, do you have an opening 

16 statement? 

17 MR. BRUCE: Very b r i e f l y , Commissioners. 

18 OPENING STATEMENT 

19 BY MR. BRUCE: 

20 As I've said before, the Commissioners always 

21 seem p r e t t y good about reading the pre-hearing 

22 statements, so you have a good idea of what's going on. 

23 From Mack's standpoint, t h i s i s b a s i c a l l y a 

24 simple p o o l i n g case. There are undivided i n t e r e s t s i n a 

25 w e l l u n i t w i t h no j o i n t o p e r a t i n g agreement. And since 

^ L. U .... L'J .... _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
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1 Mr. Ragsdale hasn't signed an operating agreement, Mack 

2 needs t o forc e pool- h i s i n t e r e s t i n t o the subject w e l l . 

3 I n force p o o l i n g , you need t o look at a few 

4 basic elements. I s there a j o i n t operating agreement, a 

5 v o l u n t a r y agreement, between the p a r t i e s ? No, there 

6 i s n ' t . 

7 Next, you look at whether the a p p l i c a n t , Mack 

8 Energy, has made an e f f o r t t o o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y 

9 j o i n d e r of Mr. Ragsdale, the only other working i n t e r e s t 

10 owner i n the w e l l . Have they done that? Yes. 

11 Next, the o v e r a l l scope of the D i v i s i o n and 

12 the Commission's a u t h o r i t y i s : W i l l p o o l i n g prevent 

13 waste and p r o t e c t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s ? I n t h i s case, Mack 

14 has proposed a f r a c k job t h a t i s reasonable and w i l l 

15 increase reserves, and t h i s d e f i n i t e l y prevents waste and 

16 p r o t e c t s c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

17 Now, as I'm sure you're aware, the subject 

18 w e l l was d r i l l e d and then recompleted some time ago. 

19 That doesn't matter, because the po o l i n g s t a t u t e , 

20 70-2-17.C, expressly allows force p o o l i n g before or a f t e r 

21 a w e l l i s d r i l l e d . So the f a c t t h a t the recompletion 

22 t h a t was done on the w e l l by Mack Energy and Mr. Ragsdale 

23 i n 2004 i s i r r e l e v a n t . 

24 Now, the evidence w i l l show t h a t Mack has 

25 s a t i s f i e d the s t a t u t o r y requirements and D i v i s i o n p o l i c y 
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1 f o r force p o o l i n g . And Mack requests t h a t you enter an 

2 order force p o o l i n g Mr. Ragsdale i n t o the w e l l , as the 

3 O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n d i d ; awarding a r i s k or charge, 

4 as d i d the D i v i s i o n ; and e s t a b l i s h i n g overhead r a t e s . 

5 Thank you. 

6 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Mr. Hall? 

7 OPENING STATEMENT 

8 BY MR. HALL: 

9 Commissioners, the burden today i s on the 

10 a p p l i c a n t , Mack Energy, t o prove t h a t i t i s e n t i t l e d t o a 

11 compulsory p o o l i n g order i n t h i s case. And i n order t o 

12 do t h a t , i t must show p r e r e q u i s i t e s . I t must show f i r s t 

13 t h a t i t acted i n good f a i t h i n attempting t o o b t a i n the 

14 v o l u n t a r y p a r t i c i p a t i o n of my c l i e n t , 

15 Mr. Ragsdale, i n the w e l l . We're here t o challenge t h a t . 

16 We don't t h i n k they can make t h a t showing today. 

17 They must also e s t a b l i s h -- t h i s i s under 

18 recent guidance of orders issued by the Commission and 

19 the D i v i s i o n . They must show t h a t they acted w i t h 

20 d i l i g e n c e . We're here t o challenge t h a t , as w e l l . We 

21 don't t h i n k they can make t h a t showing. 

22 We are also here today t o challenge Mack 

23 Energy's request f o r a r i s k p e nalty on a r e - e n t r y f o r a 

24 f r a c k job i n the limestone r e e f . We're going t o 

25 challenge the very a d v i s a b i l i t y of doing t h a t , whether 
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1 i t ' s warranted at a l l and whether i t ' s necessary t o 

2 preserve the lease or the w e l l f o r production. 

3 A f t e r t h a t , we w i l l t u r n t o Mr. Ragsdale and 

4 Siana's request f o r r e l i e f t h a t we set f o r t h i n our 

5 pleadings. And t h a t i s the request f o r r e l i e f t h a t i s 

6 provided f o r i n the second component of the compulsory 

7 p o o l i n g s t a t u t e s , Section 70-2-18, whereas i n t h i s case, 

8 you have an operator t h a t ' s f a i l e d t o act d i l i g e n t l y . 

9 Diligence does come back i n t o p l a y i n connection w i t h our 

10 request f o r r e l i e f , and we're going t o ask the 

11 Commission, i f compulsory p o o l i n g r e l i e f i s granted, t h a t 

12 you also provide t h a t the operator render an accounting 

13 t o Mr. Ragsdale and pay him the proceeds t h a t the 

14 operator has been w i t h h o l d i n g f o r some time now without 

15 deductions f o r charges and expenses. 

16 That's what we t h i n k the s t a t u t e says. We're 

17 not asking you t o i n t e r p r e t t h a t s t a t u t e . I t i s 

18 unambiguous. I t does not need i n t e r p r e t a t i o n . We're 

19 simply asking t h a t i t be applie d . And I w i l l have more 

2 0 t o say about t h a t request f o r r e l i e f i n our concluding 

21 statements. 

22 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: A l l r i g h t . Do we 

23 have witnesses, Mr. Bruce? 

24 MR. BRUCE: I have three witnesses, 

25 Mr. Chairman. 
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MR. HALL: And I have one witness t h i s 

2 morning. 

3 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: You may introduce 

4 your f i r s t witness. 

5 MR. BRUCE: St a c i Sanders. 

6 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Please stand t o be 

7 sworn. 

8 STACI SANDERS 

9 Having been f i r s t d uly sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

10 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

11 BY MR. BRUCE: 

12 Q. W i l l you please s t a t e your f u l l name and c i t y 

13 of residence f o r the record? 

14 A. S t a c i Sanders, A r t e s i a , New Mexico. 

15 Q. Who do you work f o r , and i n what capacity? 

16 A. I work f o r Mack Energy Corporation as a 

17 landman. 

18 Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the f u l l 

19 Commission? 

20 A. No, s i r . 

21 Q. Would you please describe your educational and 

22 employment background f o r the Commissioners? 

23 A. I went t o New Mexico State f o r three and a 

24 h a l f years, stayed i n business, and then I've worked f o r 

25 Mack Energy since 1992, November of 1992, t o the current 
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1 time. 

2 Q. And have you always been i n the Land 

3 Department at Mack Energy? 

4 A. Yes, I have. 

5 Q. Did you s t a r t at the bottom and work your way 

6 up? 

7 A. I d i d . 

8 Q. And does your area of r e s p o n s i b i l i t y at Mack 

9 include t h i s p o r t i o n of Southeast New Mexico? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the land matters 

12 i n v o l v e d i n t h i s case? 

13 A. Yes, I am. 

14 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, I tender 

15 Ms. Sanders as an expert petroleum landman 

16 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

17 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: She's admitted. 

18 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Ms. Sanders, could you 

19 i d e n t i f y E x h i b i t 1 f o r the Commissioners and describe 

20 what Mack seeks i n t h i s case? 

21 A. I t ' s a Midland map, and i t shows Section 32 of 

22 Township 1733. Mack Energy i s seeking t o pool a l l 

23 mineral i n t e r e s t s from the surface t o the base of the Abo 

24 u n d e r l y i n g the southeast of the northwest quarter of 

25 Section 32. The u n i t i s dedicated t o the Cockburn A 
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1 State Number 5 w e l l , which i s an e x i s t i n g w e l l . 

2 Q. And what i s the status of the well? 

3 A. The w e l l was d r i l l e d i n 1970 i n t o the Morrow, 

4 and Mack Energy became the operator i n 2004. The w e l l i s 

5 c u r r e n t l y producing about 20 t o 22 b a r r e l s of o i l per day 

6 from the Abo formation, and Mack Energy seeks t o re-enter 

7 the w e l l and f r a c k the Abo t o increase production. 

8 Q. Who do you seek t o forc e pool? 

9 A. Ragsdale. 

10 Q. And what i s h i s working i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l 

11 u n i t ? 

12 A. 6.25 percent. 

13 Q. And who owns the remaining 93.75 percent of 

14 the working i n t e r e s t ? 

15 A. Mack-related e n t i t i e s , Chase O i l , et cetera. 

16 Q. Now, t h i s i s a s i n g l e t r a c t . So a l l the 

17 i n t e r e s t s i n the t r a c t are undivided; are they not? 

18 A. (Witness nods head.) 

19 Q. Could you --

2 0 A. Yes. I'm sorry. 

21 Q. Well, l e t ' s go through the t i m e l i n e on the 

22 w e l l and review some e x h i b i t s . And f i r s t , l e t ' s s t a r t 

23 o f f w i t h E x h i b i t 2A. There's a 2 and a 2A, but I' d ask 

24 you f i r s t t o look at E x h i b i t 2A. What i s that? 

25 A. I t ' s an Assignment and B i l l of Sale from Oxy 
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1 USA t o Siana Operating i n 1998, where Siana acquired 100 

2 percent from Oxy. 

3 Q. By t h i s assignment, d i d Siana acquire 100 

4 percent of the working i n t e r e s t i n the well? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And then what i s E x h i b i t 2? 

7 A. E x h i b i t 2 i s the Assignment of O i l and Gas 

8 Leases from Siana Operating t o Caza Energy i n May of 

9 2004 . 

10 Q. This was s i x years a f t e r Siana had acquired 

11 the i n t e r e s t ; correct? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. What i s E x h i b i t 3? 

14 A. E x h i b i t 3 i s the assignment from Caza Energy, 

15 LLC, t o Tom Ragsdale and some Chase et a l s . 

16 Q. And again, Mr. Ragsdale was assigned an 

17 undivided 6.25 percent working i n t e r e s t ? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Was there an a d d i t i o n a l assignment i n Caza t o 

20 Mr. Ragsdale? 

21 A. Yes. P r i o r t o the assignment of h i s working 

22 i n t e r e s t , we assigned an o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t t o 

23 Mr. Ragsdale p r i o r t o t h i s assignment. 

24 Q. And next, E x h i b i t 3A. What i s that? 

25 A. I t ' s an Assignment from Caza Energy, LLC, t o 
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1 Chase O i l Corporation. 

2 Q. And does Chase O i l Corporation s t i l l own an 

3 i n t e r e s t i n the well? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. Okay. And what i s E x h i b i t 4? 

6 A. E x h i b i t 4 are the f i l i n g s t h a t Mack made w i t h 

7 the OCD regarding the change of operator. I t ' s the APD, 

8 the w e l l p l a t , and the A u t h o r i z a t i o n f o r Tra n s p o r t a t i o n 

9 t h a t was f i l e d when we took over as operator. 

10 Q. Now, t h i s change -- the very f i r s t page, the 

11 change of operator, was d i r e c t l y from Oxy t o Mack. Why 

12 i s that? 

13 A. Because there was never a change of operator 

14 done from Oxy t o Siana. So we had t o go d i r e c t l y t o Oxy 

15 and do a change of operator from Oxy t o Mack Energy. 

16 Q. For s i x years, even though Siana O i l had owned 

17 100 percent of the working i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l , they had 

18 never changed operator from Oxy? 

19 A. Correct. 

2 0 Q. Looking at the w e l l documents, the w e l l was 

21 completed -- recompleted i n the Abo -- I'm lo o k i n g f o r a 

22 date here -- j u s t w i t h i n about a month a f t e r the 

23 assignments were executed between Siana and Caza and Mr. 

24 Ragsdale; i s t h a t correct? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. So e s s e n t i a l l y since Mack became operator, the 

2 w e l l has been producing at a l l times? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Now, we, i n our opening argument, t a l k e d about 

5 a JOA. I s there a J o i n t Operating Agreement covering 

6 t h i s w e l l u n i t ? 

7 A. No. 

8 Q. We have submitted E x h i b i t 5 t o the 

9 Commissioners. What i s t h i s , and why d i d you o b t a i n t h i s 

10 instrument, c a l l e d an Operating Agreement? 

11 A. We had acquired the pro p e r t y from 

12 Mr. Ragsdale, and i n the f i l e s , there was not an 

13 operating agreement. And we began loo k i n g f o r one 

14 because there was a mention t o an operating agreement. 

15 And we were a l l u n c e r t a i n , and we f i n a l l y 

16 found a copy of what was c a l l e d an operating agreement. 

17 So when we found i t i n l a t e 2010, we forwarded i t t o 

18 Mr. Ragsdale, but we d i d not review i t . 

19 And we reviewed i t when we s t a r t e d t a l k i n g 

20 about f r a c k i n g the w e l l t o see what the terms were. 

21 That's when we r e a l i z e d i t was r e a l l y an assignment or a 

22 d r i l l - t o - e a r n type of agreement and not an operating 

23 agreement. 

24 Q. So i t ' s not what people would see i n an AAPL 

25 J o i n t Operating Agreement, which governs the we l l ' s 
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? 

2 A. No, i t i s not. 

3 Q. But during t h a t time, had Mack always thought 

4 t h a t there was an operating agreement i n place? 

5 A. Yes, we d i d . 

6 Q- Because you said, I b e l i e v e , there were 

7 references t o i t i n the various documents? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. But you have never been able t o loca t e a JOA 

10 covering t h i s w e l l u n i t ? 

11 A. No. 

12 Q. Let's s t a r t w i t h the discussions regarding 

13 f r a c k i n g the w e l l . What i s E x h i b i t 6? 

14 A. E x h i b i t 6 i s our l e t t e r , w i t h AFE attached, 

15 t h a t went to Mr. Ragsdaie t o f r a c k the w e l l . 

16 Q. And subsequently were there any discussions 

17 between personnel representing Mr. Ragsdale and personnel 

18 representing Mack Energy? 

19 A. Excuse me? 

20 Q. Were there discussions, any subsequent 

21 discussions, over the next month or two between --

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. Who conducted those on Mack's behalf? 

24 A. Our engineer. 

25 Q. I s he here today? 
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Yes. 

2 Q. And w i l l he discuss those? 

3 A. Yes, he w i l l . 

4 Q. Next, what i s E x h i b i t 7? 

5 A. E x h i b i t 7 i s j u s t my handwritten notes from 

6 telephone conversations. I j u s t always keep phone c a l l 

7 logs when I t a l k t o people. 

8 Q. Now, i n the f i r s t one, you say before 

9 Thanksgiving you had a discussion w i t h Tom Zabel. Did he 

10 c a l l you? 

11 A. Yes, he d i d . 

12 Q. And who d i d he say he represented? 

13 A. Mr. Ragsdale. 

14 Q. I s he an attorney, t o the best of your 

15 knowledge? 

16 A. Yes, s i r . 

17 Q. I n New Mexico or Texas or where? 

18 A. Texas, I b e l i e v e . 

19 Q. So you had a discussion w i t h him, and what d i d 

20 he request you t o do? 

21 A. To send an OA t o Mr. Ragsdale so we could get 

22 something i n place. 

23 Q. We'll see i n a moment t h a t you d i d t h a t ; 

24 correct? 

25 A. Yes, I d i d . 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 17 

1 Q. What about the follow-up conversations. What 

2 d i d they -- j u s t very b r i e f l y --

3 A. I t was j u s t regarding the OA, t r y i n g t o see i f 

4 we could get something worked out. And t h i s i s my notes 

5 where I c a l l e d and l e f t messages or conversations w i t h 

6 Mr. Ragsdale. 

7 Q. Okay. And so there were several telephone 

8 discussions? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. What i s E x h i b i t 8? 

11 A. E x h i b i t 8 i s when I forwarded the operating 

12 agreement by l e t t e r t o Mr. Ragsdale. 

13 Q. Before the D i v i s i o n hearing, d i d you receive 

14 any comments at a l l regarding the operating agreement 

15 from Mr. Ragsdale? 

16 A. No. 

17 Q. And what i s E x h i b i t 9? 

18 A. E x h i b i t 9 i s a follow-up l e t t e r i n A p r i l of 

19 2012 t o Mr. Ragsdale regarding the operating agreement, 

20 asking f o r any comments or suggestions. 

21 Q. And d i d you ever receive any comments or 

22 suggestions? 

23 A. No, I d i d not. 

24 Q. And then what i s E x h i b i t 10? 

25 A. E x h i b i t 10 i s another f o l l o w - u p l e t t e r t o Mr. 
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1 Ragsdale regarding the operating agreement, asking f o r 

2 comments or suggestions. 

3 Q. I be l i e v e Mr. Ragsdale, i n h i s e x h i b i t 

4 booklet, has the proposed JOA, does he not --

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. - - s o the Commissioners can look at i t ? 

7 But what p e n a l t i e s are set f o r t h i n t h a t JOA? 

8 A. The customary 3 00. 

9 Q. And would t h a t be equivalent t o the cost plus 

10 200 percent r i s k charge under the force p o o l i n g statutes? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. I n your op i n i o n , has Mack Energy made a 

13 g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t t o o b t a i n the v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of 

14 Mr. Ragsdale i n the well? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. Do the other working i n t e r e s t owners i n the 

17 w e l l plan on j o i n i n g i n the f r a c k procedure? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And w i l l an engineer discuss the AFE and the 

2 0 cost of the proposed operation? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. Do you request t h a t Mack Energy be appointed 

23 operator of the well? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. And do you have a recommendation as t o the 
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1 amounts which Mack should be pa i d f o r supervision and 

2 a d m i n i s t r a t i v e expenses? 

3 A. We request t h a t $6,500 per month be allowed 

4 f o r d r i l l i n g a w e l l , and $650 a month be allowed f o r a 

5 producing w e l l . 

6 Q. Are these amounts equivalent t o those normally 

7 charged by Mack and other operators i n t h i s area f o r 

8 w e l l s of t h i s depth? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. Do you request t h a t these rates be adjusted 

11 p e r i o d i c a l l y , i n accordance w i t h the COPAS accounting 

12 procedure? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Does Mack request the maximum cost plus 200 

15 percent r i s k charge i f Mr ; Ragsdale goes nonconsent i n 

16 the r e - e n t r y and the f r a c k i n g of the well? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. W i l l your engineers discuss the r i s k charge 

19 f u r t h e r ? 

20 A. Yes, they w i l l . 

21 Q. Now, you were here at the o r i g i n a l hearing, 

22 were you not, Ms. Sanders? 

23 A. Yes, I was. 

24 Q. And Mr. Ragsdale, i f you look a t the 

25 t r a n s c r i p t , s a id t h a t he requested i n f o r m a t i o n f rom Mack 
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1 i n the past, but wasn't provided t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n . Let's 

2 go i n t o t h a t a l i t t l e b i t . What i s E x h i b i t 11? 

3 A. I t ' s i n response t o a subpoena t h a t 

4 Mr. Ragsdale had gotten from the D i v i s i o n , and i t ' s a 

5 l e t t e r t o h i s a t t o r n e y p r o v i d i n g the ma t e r i a l s which had 

6 a l l been p r e v i o u s l y provided before. 

7 Q. Let's go i n t o t h i s , and w e ' l l b r i e f l y go i n t o 

8 a few e x h i b i t s . But you sent him -- down at the bottom, 

9 you say you sent him the w e l l f i l e ? 

10 A. Um-hum. 

11 Q. Had t h a t p r e v i o u s l y been provided t o him 

12 before the subpoena? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. The lease f i l e , had t h a t been p r e v i o u s l y 

15 provided t o him? 

.16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. The d i v i s i o n order f i l e , had t h a t been 

18 p r e v i o u s l y provided t o him? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And I t h i n k you mentioned t h i s before. When 

21 the w e l l was acquired i n 2004 by Caza, where d i d the 

22 t i t l e i n f o r m a t i o n come from? 

23 A. From the f i l e s we obtained from Mr. Ragsdale. 

24 Q. So he had a l l those f i l e s from the beginning? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q • He also asked f o r copies of JIBs. Were JIBs 

2 sent every month t o Mr. Ragsdale from the i n c e p t i o n of 

3 the recompletion of the well? 

4 A. Yes, they were. 

5 Q. He asked f o r production i n f o r m a t i o n . Was t h a t 

6 i n f o r m a t i o n p r e v i o u s l y sent t o Mr. Ragsdale? 

7 A. Production i n f o r m a t i o n , I don't know i f he 

8 ever requested i t before. But i t was -- the i n f o r m a t i o n 

9 appears on our checkstub. 

10 Q. We'll get i n t o t h a t a l i t t l e b i t l a t e r . 

11 A. Um-hum. 

12 Q. But a l l of the payment stubs t h a t were sent t o 

13 Mr. Ragsdale contained production information? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And p r i c i n g information? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. And t h a t would be the same w i t h respect t o 

18 revenue; would i t not? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. So he had everything t h a t he requested i n the 

21 subpoena ? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 MR. HALL: Objection, no foundation f o r 

24 t h a t . I don't t h i n k i t ' s been e s t a b l i s h e d t h a t she knows 

25 what the scope of the subpoena was. I p o i n t out t h a t 
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1 among the t h i n g s requested i n the subpoena were o i l 

2 c o n t r a c t s . 

3 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Let's go i n t o t h a t . Are there 

4 o i l contracts? 

5 A. There i s not an o i l c o n t r a c t , because Navajo 

6 does not issue an o i l c o n t r a c t . That's who the o r i g i n a l 

7 c o n t r a c t was w i t h . And gas co n t r a c t s , there were, and 

8 they were i n the f i l e which we provided p r e v i o u s l y . 

9 There was --we had d i v i s i o n orders w i t h Navajo, and 

10 t h a t ' s your basic -- t h a t ' s what they provide t o you. 

11 Q. Let's go i n t o t h a t , because I t h i n k some of 

12 our a d d i t i o n a l i n f o r m a t i o n -- t o show t h a t t h i s 

13 i n f o r m a t i o n was provided, what i s E x h i b i t 12? 

14 A. E x h i b i t 12 i s emails from our o f f i c e between 

15 e i t h e r myself or SuAnne Greenwood and Bobbi Brice, of 

16 Mr. Ragsdale's o f f i c e . 

17 Q. And what was sent as a r e s u l t of these emails? 

18 A. The f i l e s f o r the Cockburn A State Wells and 

19 State CD Wells. A l l of the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t he had 

20 requested, i t was e i t h e r e l e c t r o n i c a l l y sent t o him or by 

21 m a i l . Some of these say t h a t the emails d i d not go 

22 through, so we would forward the i n f o r m a t i o n by ma i l . 

23 Q. Was i t forwarded t o him? 

24 A. Yes, i t was. 

25 Q. What i s E x h i b i t 13? 
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E x h i b i t 13 i s a l e t t e r where we provided some 

2 of the same i n f o r m a t i o n again and the operating agreement 

3 t h a t was i n -- t h a t we had discovered. 

4 Q. So you d i d provide him w i t h AFEs over a year 

5 ago regarding the subject w e l l ; correct? 

6 A. Yes, a l l the AFEs t h a t were i n the f i l e . 

7 Q. And i t references a gas c o n t r a c t . So you had 

8 provided him w i t h a gas contract? 

9 A. Yes, I had. 

10 Q. And then i t says, "Operating Agreement." I s 

11 t h a t the Operating Agreement marked as E x h i b i t 5? 

12 A. Yes . 

13 Q. At t h a t p o i n t , had you even reviewed t h a t 

14 agreement t o see i f i t was, i n f a c t , a normal j o i n t 

15 operating agreement? 

16 A. No, we had not. 

17 Q. But you forwarded i t t o him regardless? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And what i s E x h i b i t 14? 

20 A. I n March of 2012, Mr. Ragsdale had someone 

21 from h i s o f f i c e contact us t o o b t a i n production 

22 i n f o r m a t i o n . And I j u s t asked them t o send us an email 

23 i n w r i t i n g so we had i t f o r our records. And we'd be 

24 glad t o provide i t , so we d i d so. 

25 Q. Was Mr. Ragsdale also provided w i t h copies of 
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1 the C-115s f o r the well? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. And are those -- I t h i n k attached t o t h i s 

4 email i s the d a i l y p roduction data t h a t Mr. Ragsdale had 

5 requested; correct? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. Are the l a s t few pages copies of C-115s? 

8 A. I t h i n k i t ' s the i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t goes on the 

9 C-115. But yes -- i t ' s not b a s i c a l l y a copy of the 

10 C-115, but yes. 

11 Q. C-115s are submitted e l e c t r o n i c a l l y , aren't 

12 they? 

13 A. Yes, they are. 

14 Q. And f i n a l l y , what i s E x h i b i t 14A? 

15 A. I t i s the most c u r r e n t email t h a t went t o 

16 Mr. Ragsdale's o f f i c e f o r the production i n f o r m a t i o n . We 

17 continue t o send i t on a monthly basis since he asked f o r 

18 i t . 

19 Q. Has Mack ever refused t o provide i n f o r m a t i o n 

20 t o Mr. Ragsdale when he requested i t ? 

21 A. No, we have not. 

22 MR. BRUCE: I d o n ' t t h i n k my d i r e c t w i l l 

23 take too much longer , Commissioners. A l o t o f the r e s t 

24 o f the e x h i b i t s are what I , i n a r egu l a r hear ing , 

25 w o u l d n ' t submit . But because o f issues r a i s e d by j 
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Mr. Ragsdale at the D i v i s i o n l e v e l , I j u s t want t o submit 

2 these e x h i b i t s very b r i e f l y through Ms. Sanders. 

3 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) What are E x h i b i t s 15 and 16, 

4 Ms. Sanders? 

5 A. F i f t e e n i s the Navajo d i v i s i o n order, signed 

6 by Mr. Ragsdale, f o r the Cockburn A State Number 5. And 

7 16 i s the Mack Energy d i v i s i o n order signed by Mr. 

8 Ragsdale. 

9 Q. Did Navajo R e f i n i n g disburse revenue on t h i s 

10 w e l l f o r several years? 

11 A. Yes, they d i d . 

12 Q. And then Mack Energy took over d i s b u r s i n g 

13 revenue; correct? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. That's why there's two d i v i s i o n orders? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. And what i s E x h i b i t 17? 

18 A. This i s a summary of the invoices b i l l e d and 

19 the balance owed by Mr. Ragsdale f o r the Cockburn Well. 

20 Q. Why was t h i s prepared? What happened w i t h 

21 regard t o JIBs and invoices i n 2010? 

22 A. Mr. Ragsdale q u i t paying h i s b i l l s . 

23 Q. And except f o r one month, has he not paid any 

24 b i l l s since October of 2010? 

25 A. That's c o r r e c t . 
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Q. And these are h i s share of the operating costs 

2 on the w e l l ; c o r r e c t ? 

3 A. That's r i g h t . 

4 Q. What i s E x h i b i t 18? 

5 A. I t i s a check t h a t Mr. Ragsdale sent t o us. 

6 I t ' s j u s t an example of the checks t h a t we received from 

7 him. 

8 Q. Paying operating costs? 

9 A. Yes, s i r . 

10 Q. And t h a t ' s the only one you received since 

11 October 2010? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. What i s E x h i b i t 19? 

14 A. I t i s the revenue payments made t o 

15 Mr. Ragsdale. 

16 Q. And t h i s includes two w e l l s ; correct? 

17 A. Yes, s i r , i t does. 

18 Q. And j u s t on the l a s t page on these two w e l l s , 

19 what i s the approximate amount t h a t , as of a year ago or 

20 so, had been pa i d t o Mr. Ragsdale on these two wells? 

21 A. $344,028.72. 

22 Q. And i n lo o k i n g at t h i s -- w e l l , ignore t h a t 

23 f o r a minute. 

24 What are E x h i b i t s 20A and 20B? 

25 A. Just t y p i c a l JIBs t h a t were mailed t o 
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Mr. Ragsdale on a monthly basis. This j u s t shows what 

2 they look l i k e . 

3 Q. Okay. So he was provided w i t h these every 

4 month? 

5 A. Yes, s i r . 

6 Q. What are E x h i b i t s 21A and 21B? 

7 A. These are two examples of our checkstubs t h a t 

8 go t o the owners. These are copies of the ones t h a t went 

9 t o Mr. Ragsdale. 

10 Q. And so together w i t h the check, there i s 

11 i n f o r m a t i o n on the production and p r i c i n g from the 

12 Cockburn A State Well Number 5; correct? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. F i n a l l y , the f i n a l three e x h i b i t s f o r you. 

15 E x h i b i t 22, what i s that? 

16 A. This i s the l e t t e r from Mr. Ragsdale's lawyer, 

17 Mr. H a l l , regarding revenue i n suspense. 

18 Q. Since t h i s w i l l come up, Mack d i d place Mr. 

19 Ragsdale's revenue i n suspense? 

20 A. Yes, we d i d . 

21 Q. When was t h a t done? 

22 A. I n 2011. 

23 Q. And i s t h a t a r e s u l t of h i s nonpayment of h i s 

24 JIBs? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. And what are E x h i b i t s 23 and 24? 

2 A. The f i r s t one i s a response t o the l e t t e r t h a t 

3 we j u s t t a l k e d about from our counsel regarding the funds 

4 i n suspense, and a second one. also. 

5 Q. Are the funds s t i l l i n suspense? 

6 A. We a c t u a l l y released a l l but what he owes us 

7 from suspense at the beginning of t h i s week, because i t 

8 came up. We were g e t t i n g ready f o r t h i s hearing. We had 

9 t h i s on the back burner, had not looked on at i t , d i d not 

10 r e a l i z e there was as much i n suspense as there was, so we 

11 released everything. 

12 Q. Except f o r several thousand d o l l a r s ? 

13 A. Except f o r what he owes on h i s JIB, yes. 

14 Q. Were E x h i b i t s 1 through 24 prepared by you or 

15 under your supervision or compiled from company business 

16 records? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And i n your o p i n i o n , i s the g r a n t i n g of t h i s 

19 a p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t of conservation and the 

20 prevention of waste? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Commissioner, I move the 

23 admission of Mack E x h i b i t s 1 through 24. 

24 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any ob jec t ion? 

25 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 
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1 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: They're so 

2 admitted. 

3 (Mack E x h i b i t s 1 through 24 were admitted.) 

4 MR. BRUCE: I pass the witness. 

5 MR. BRANCARD-: Just t o note, on E x h i b i t s 

6 15 and 16, i f you have them --

7 MR. HALL: The d i v i s i o n orders? 

8 MR. BRANCARD: Yeah. Where i t says, 

9 "Owner's tax ID/Social," i s t h a t your Social S e c u r i t y 

10 number on there? 

11 MR. RAGSDALE: Yes, t h a t i s . 

12 MR. BRANCARD: Can we a l l agree t o black 

13 i t out? 

14 MR. BRUCE: Yes. 

15 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Also, f o r 

16 completeness, Mr. Bruce, I'm missing E x h i b i t 17. 

17 MR. BRUCE: Let me give you my copy, 

18 Mr. Chairman. 

19 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any 

20 cross-examination? 

21 MR. HALL: Yes. 

22 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

23 BY MR. HALL: 

24 Q. Good morning, Ms. Sanders. We meet again. 

25 A. Yes. 
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Q. Do me a favor and t u r n t o your E x h i b i t 4, 

2 please. I n t h a t e x h i b i t i s the C-102? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Can you t e l l us again when the C-102 was 

5 changed t o r e f l e c t the change of operator? 

6 A. I n May of 2004. 

7 Q. I f you look at Line Item Number 3, i t asks 

8 about the c o n s o l i d a t i o n of i n t e r e s t s . And t h a t was l e f t 

9 blank; correct? 

10 A. Yes, s i r . 

11 Q. I n 2004, was Mack aware of the need t o 

12 consolidate the diverse ownership i n t e r e s t i n the well? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. When d i d i t f i r s t undertake t o t r y t o 

15 consolidate? 

16 A. When we b a s i c a l l y s t a r t e d g e t t i n g ready t o 

17 f r a c k the w e l l , because we thought we were already 

18 consolidated under an operating agreement. 

19 Q. So t h a t would have been about August of 2011? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. I ' l l ask you a question about the a p p l i c a t i o n 

22 t h a t was f i l e d i n t h i s case. I ' l l read a b i t t o you. I t 

23 says, "Applicant has i n good f a i t h sought t o obt a i n the 

24 v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r of a l l other mineral i n t e r e s t owners i n 

25 the acreage." 
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1 So the question i s : Who are the other mineral 

2 i n t e r e s t owners? 

3 A. There are numerous i n t e r n a l . 

4 Q. Who are they? 

5 A. Employees at Mack Energy and the Chases 

6 themselves, f a m i l y members, Chase O i l Corporation and 

7 Mr. Ragsdale. 

8 Q. Can you t e l l us i n d i v i d u a l names? Well, l e t 

9 me ask i t t h i s way: How many other i n t e r e s t owners are 

10 there i n the well? 

11 A. I don't have t h a t r i g h t i n f r o n t of me. I 

12 would guess -- I would be making a guess because i t ' s a l l 

13 employees, and i t v a r i e s from w e l l t o w e l l . Without 

14 having a l i s t i n f r o n t of me, I don't t h i n k I can t e l l 

15 you e x a c t l y who are -- I can t e l l you I am i n i t myself. 

16 Q. I f we look at the J o i n t Operating Agreement 

17 t h a t we discussed e a r l i e r today, i s there a l i s t of 

18 i n t e r e s t owners and t h e i r ownership percentages there? 

19 A. No. 

20 Q. There i s not? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. I bel i e v e you t o l d me at the e a r l i e r hearing 

23 t h a t you pe r s o n a l l y have an i n t e r e s t i n t h i s w e l l ; 

24 correct? 

25 A. Yes, s i r , under a p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement 
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2 county. I t ' s through a p a r t i c i p a t i o n program. 

3 Q. T e l l us how t h a t works. Did you receive an 

4 AFE f o r t h i s f r a c k job? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Were you ever o f f e r e d the o p p o r t u n i t y t o go 

7 under an operating agreement? 

8 A. Under our p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement, we do not 

9 sign operating agreements because i t ' s a l l through a 

10 p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement through our company. 

11 Q. How about the other i n t e r e s t owners t h a t are 

12 not under the employee p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement? 

13 A. The Chases -- once we have a JOA i n place 

14 then we have them sign. That would be Robert Chase, 

15 Ventana, Diakan and so f o r t h , once we have something 

16 t h a t ' s agreed upon. 

17 Q. I s i t c o r r e c t t o say today t h a t t h e i r 

18 i n t e r e s t s are not consolidated under an operating 

19 agreement? 

20 A. No, s i r . 

21 Q. I t i s not correct? Have they signed an 

22 operating agreement? 

23 A. I misunderstood your question. They have not 

24 signed an operating agreement. They have not been 

25 consolidated. 
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1 Q. Have those i n t e r e s t owners been presented 

2 w i t h an AFE? 

3 A. No. They're i n t e r n a l . They're i n house. 

4 They know a l l the goings on and what Mack proposes. 

5 Q. A l l r i g h t . Let's e s t a b l i s h the t i m e l i n e 

6 c o r r e c t l y here. I f we t u r n t o your E x h i b i t 19, l e t ' s 

7 t a l k about t h a t a l i t t l e b i t . This i s a summary of 

8 revenue payments paid t o Mr. Ragsdale; correct? 

9 A. Yes, i t i s . 

10 Q. I f we t u r n t o the l a s t page, the l a s t payment 

11 was f o r August 2011 production? 

12 A. Yes. On t h i s statement, yes. 

13 Q. I'm sorry? 

14 A. On t h i s statement, yes. 

15 Q. There were no payments since August 2 011; 

16 correct? 

17 A. There was one -- i f you see the check, E x h i b i t 

18 21B, i t was f o r August. Yes, i t ' s f o r August production, 

19 but i t was paid i n September of 2011. 

2 0 Q. So the Commission i s c l e a r on t h i s , when we 

21 look at E x h i b i t 19, these revenues are a t t r i b u t a b l e t o 

22 both an o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t and a working 

23 i n t e r e s t owned by Mr. Ragsdale; correct? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. And i t ' s f o r p r o d u c t i o n f rom two w e l l s ; 
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1 correct? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. So the de c i s i o n was made i n August 2011 t o 

4 cease payments t o Mr. Ragsdale f o r h i s working i n t e r e s t s 

5 and h i s overrides i n both w e l l s ; i s t h a t accurate? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. Now l e t ' s r e f e r back t o your E x h i b i t 6. 

8 E x h i b i t 6 i s your August 30, 2011, t r a n s m i t t a l f o r the 

9 AFE f o r the f r a c k j o b ; correct? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. So the de c i s i o n t o AFE Mr. Ragsdale was made 

12 a f t e r the d e c i s i o n t o stop paying him; correct? 

13 A. No. 

14 Q. I bel i e v e you t e s t i f i e d a moment ago t h a t a 

15 de c i s i o n was made t o stop paying him i n August; i s t h a t 

16 correct? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Was t h i s before or a f t e r t h i s ? 

19 A. I guess i t ' s c o n c u r r e n t l y , yes. I don't t h i n k 

20 they had one t o do w i t h the other. 

21 Q. I f we look at the l e t t e r , at the time Mack had 

1 
22 understood t h a t the i n t e r e s t s were not consolidated under j 
23 an operating agreement; correct? | 

j 
24 A. Yes, s i r . 

25 Q. I f you l o o k a t t h e l a s t p a r a g r a p h , i t s a y s , 
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1 " I f you wish t o j o i n , please execute and r e t u r n an AFE." 

2 But does the proposal e x p l a i n what you do i f you don't 

3 wish t o j o i n , i f you wish t o go nonconsent? 

4 A. No, i t doesn't. 

5 Q. How does an i n t e r e s t owner go nonconsent under 

6 a proposal l i k e t h i s ? 

7 MR. BRUCE: I would ob j e c t because i t asks 

8 a l e g a l question. And I would s t a t e t h a t the case I 

9 submitted t o the D i v i s i o n , B e l l e t v. Grynberg, addresses 

10 t h a t very t h i n g , how a co-tenant can go nonconsent i n a 

11 w e l l . I would ob j e c t t o Ms. Sanders being r e q u i r e d t o 

12 answer t h a t question because she's not an attorney. 

13 MR. HALL: She's been q u a l i f i e d as an 

14 expert petroleum landman without o b j e c t i o n from me. I 

15 t h i n k she has the c r e d e n t i a l s and experience t o answer 

16 the question. She understands how AFEs and w e l l 

17 proposals work and how p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n w e l l s works. I'm 

18 r e a l l y not i n t e r e s t e d much i n the B e l l e t v. Grynberg 

19 case. We're t a l k i n g about procedures under the O i l and 

20 Gas Act. I t h i n k t h i s question i s relevant t o t h a t . 

21 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I ' l l allow i t . ' 

22 A. Under there, i t does not o f f e r -- i t says here 

23 i f he has any questions, he can c a l l our o f f i c e . He's 

24 never once c a l l e d our o f f i c e t o obje c t t o the AFE or t a l k 

25 t o us about i t . And when asked f o r a JOA, we forwarded 
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1 one t o him f o r sign a t u r e . 

2 Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) And so the l e t t e r says, "Please 

3 contact Lee Livingston"? 

4 A. Um-hum. Yes, s i r . 

5 Q. Who's Lee Livingston? 

6 A. He i s our engineer. 

7 Q. The engineer i s going t o answer the questions 

8 about how you go nonconsent i n a well? 

9 A. No, s i r . I f there are questions, my name i s 

10 on here also. I f e l t l i k e he could contact us. We've 

11 always had a working r e l a t i o n s h i p t h a t Tom could c a l l me, 

12 and I've always t r i e d t o be forthcoming i n anything t h a t 

13 I could. 

14 Q. Okay. Ms. Sanders, can you e x p l a i n t o the 

15 Commission, w i t h no JOA i n place, what was the 

16 a u t h o r i z a t i o n f o r Mack Energy t o place i n t o suspense 

17 Mr. Ragsdale's working i n t e r e s t revenues? 

18 A. We placed h i s revenue i n suspense f o r 

19 nonpayment of h i s JIB. 

2 0 Q. Under what a u t h o r i t y ? 

21 MR. BRUCE: Again, I would o b j e c t . I 

22 t h i n k , once again, r e f e r r i n g t o the B e l l e t v. Grynberg 

23 case, i t says t h a t the operator has an equ i t a b l e l i e n on 

24 the i n t e r e s t of a p a r t y who doesn't pay i t s b i l l s . 

25 And I would d i r e c t Ms. Sanders not t o answer 
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the question because t h a t i s d e f i n i t e l y a l e g a l question. 

2 MR. HALL: You can d i r e c t . But I t h i n k 

3 i t ' s a determination f o r the Commission t o make, whether 

4 she can answer. 

5 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I s t h i s w i t h i n 

6 your area of expertise? 

7 THE WITNESS: No, s i r , i t ' s not. 

8 Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Who made the de c i s i o n t o 

9 w i t h h o l d payments t o Mr. Ragsdale? 

10 A. The owner of Mack Energy. 

11 Q. Who i s that? 

12 A. Mack Chase. 

13 Q. Did he i n s t r u c t you t o w i t h h o l d payments? 

14 A. Not me, pe r s o n a l l y . 

15 Q. Who d i d he i n s t r u c t ? 

16 A. The other landman i n our o f f i c e , Travis 

17 Lanning. 

18 Q. When was h i s i n s t r u c t i o n issued? 

19 A. I n August of 2011. 

20 Q. And the i n s t r u c t i o n was also t o suspend 

21 revenues from the State CD Well? 

22 A. Yes, s i r . 

23 Q. And the i n s t r u c t i o n was t o suspend revenues 

24 a t t r i b u t a b l e t o o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t s t h a t 

25 Mr. Ragsdale owned? 
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1 A. I knew about the working i n t e r e s t . I can't 

2 say f o r c e r t a i n I knew about the overr i d e s . But yes, 

3 s i r , apparently so. 

4 Q. I n the course of f o r m u l a t i n g the proposal t o 

5 f r a c k the w e l l , were you inv o l v e d i n any discussion about 

6 the need t o f r a c k the well? 

7 A. No, I was not. 

8 Q. Who made t h a t decision? 

9 A. Our engineer and g e o l o g i s t . 

10 Q. When d i d they -- i f you know, when d i d they 

11 conceive of the idea t o f r a c t u r e the well? 

12 A. I would say i t was sometime i n August, 

13 whenever they came t o me and t o l d me they were going t o 

14 give me an AFE t o send. 

15 Q. Y o u ' l l agree t h a t the w e l l has been and 

16 continues t o produce i n paying q u a n t i t i e s ? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. I s there any danger of lease t e r m i n a t i o n due 

19 t o cessation of production? 

20 A. No, s i r . 

21 Q. I s there, t o your knowledge, any danger of 

22 l o s i n g the w e l l from any mechanical problems? 

23 A. Not t o my knowledge. 
24 Q. Can you t e l l us what Mack's arrangements are 

25 w i t h Navajo Refinery f o r the sale of o i l from the well? J 
l 
! 
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1 A. We --

2 Q. What are the terms? 

3 A. The terms, I couldn't -- I don't handle the 

4 con t r a c t s f o r t h a t type of t h i n f o r which there's not a 

5 c o n t r a c t . We have been a long-standing customer of 

6 Navajo. And we s e l l almost a l l of our o i l t o them, and 

7 they're the purchaser. They send us a hundred percent 

8 d i v i s i o n order, which we sign. And, i n t u r n , we 

9 disburse. 

10 Q. But i n t h i s case, you showed us an e x h i b i t 

11 which was an o i l d i v i s i o n order signed by Mr. Ragsdale? 

12 A. Yes, s i r . 

13 Q. Does Mack Energy allow i t s nonoperating 

14 working i n t e r e s t owners t o s e l l t h e i r share of o i l 

15 d i r e c t l y t o a purchaser? 

16 A. I f they request so of them, yes, s i r . 

17 Q. Let's look -- i f you would t u r n t o your 

18 E x h i b i t Number 11, t h a t ' s the June 13, 2012, t r a n s m i t t a l 

19 l e t t e r f o r the documents t h a t were subpoenaed by the 

20 D i v i s i o n at our request? 

21 A. Yes, s i r . 

22 Q. I want t o ask you some questions. Did you 

23 have the o p p o r t u n i t y t o review the documents t h a t you 

24 sent t o me? 

25 A. I had our - - I have a t ech i n our o f f i c e i n 
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1 the Land Department. And we got a l l the f i l e s together, 

2 and I had her -- everything was scanned, and then she 

3 compiled a CD. So I d i d not review a l l the f i l e s 

4 completely, no, s i r . 

5 Q. I n your general capacity as landman, would you 

6 have had the o p p o r t u n i t y t o review the d i v i s i o n order 

7 f i l e s ? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. And the f i l e s c o n t a i n i n g t i t l e opinions? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. And so you reviewed the t i t l e opinions t h a t 

12 were a v a i l a b l e ? 

13 A. I n the past, probably. 

14 Q. I n your review of those t i t l e opinions, are 
15 you aware of any o p i n i o n s e t t i n g f o r t h an o b j e c t i o n t o 

16 lack of good and marketable t i t l e i n Mr. Ragsdale? 

17 A. Not t h a t I'm aware of. 

18 Q. Are you aware of any c u r a t i v e requirements set 

19 f o r t h i n any t i t l e o p i n i o n a t t r i b u t a b l e t o the i n t e r e s t s 

20 of Mr. Ragsdale? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. Are you aware of any i n f o r m a t i o n i n those 

23 t i t l e opinions t h a t c a l l s i n t o question the e n t i t l e m e n t 

24 of Mr. Ragsdale t o payment of e i t h e r h i s working i n t e r e s t 

25 or o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t revenues? 
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No. 

2 Q. Has Mr. Ragsdale ever f a i l e d or refused t o 

3 execute a reasonable d i v i s i o n order f o r production i n 

4 these wells? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Let's go back and t a l k about the t i m e l i n e . 

7 Both Mr. Bruce and I have been discussing w i t h you the 

8 sequence of events here. I f you would t u r n t o E x h i b i t 

9 Number 8? 

10 A. (Witness complies.) 

11 Q. The date of t h a t l e t t e r i s when? 

12 A. December 7th, 2011. 

13 Q. This i s a l e t t e r t h a t t r a n s m i t t e d the J o i n t 

14 Operating Agreement f o r the f i r s t time t o Mr. Ragsdale? 

15 A. Yes, s i r . 

16 Q. And t h i s was sent t o him a f t e r the compulsory 

17 po o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n had been f i l e d on November 2nd; 

18 correct? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q- You've discussed the various other i n t e r e s t 

21 owners --

22 A. Yes, s i r . 

23 Q. -- owning working i n t e r e s t s i n the well? 

24 Why i s i t t h a t i t ' s only Mr. Ragsdale t h a t ' s 

25 been asked t o sign an AFE and a JOA? 
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1 A. As I explained before, we had a p a r t i c i p a t i o n 

2 agreement. And t h a t i s j u s t -- i t ' s one t h a t ' s put f o r t h 

3 by Mack Energy when you're allowed t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n 

4 w e l l s , and i t sets f o r t h a l l the g u i d e l i n e s . 

5 We don't sign AFEs. Because i f we're asked t o 

6 p a r t i c i p a t e , e i t h e r you say yes or no, and t h a t ' s how we 

7 p a r t i c i p a t e . And then we pay our share of expenses. We 

8 get a JIB, j u s t l i k e he does. 

9 Q. So you would be paying your share of the JIB 

10 f o r t h i s f r a c k job? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. Have you i n d i c a t e d t h a t you wish t o 

13 p a r t i c i p a t e i n the f r a c k job? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Have you signed an AFE? 

16 A. No. 

17 Q. And i f you wish t o de c l i n e , how does t h a t work 

18 i f you wish t o go nonconsent? 

19 A. Under our p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement, i f we do 

20 not, we j u s t don't have an i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l and we 

21 don't p a r t i c i p a t e . And i t ' s b a s i c a l l y -- i t ' s our --

22 i t ' s j u s t you don't p a r t i c i p a t e . I t ' s j u s t a 

23 p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement. I t ' s i n t e r n a l . 

24 MR. HALL: No f u r t h e r questions. Thank 

25 you, Ms. Sanders. 
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ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Commissioner 

2 Dawson, do you have any questions? 

3 EXAMINATION 

4 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

5 Q. Are there any other working i n t e r e s t owners i n 

6 the w e l l t h a t owe money from j o i n t i n t e r e s t b i l l i n g s ? 

7 A. No. 

8 Q. They're a l l paid up? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: That's the only 

11 question I have. 

12 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I have some 

13 questions. 

14 EXAMINATION 

15 BY ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: 

16 Q. At the time t h a t you stopped paying 

17 Mr. Ragsdale on the Cockburn Well, you also stopped 

18 paying on the State CD Well? 

19 A. Yes, s i r . 

20 Q. Did he also -- and the cause of t h a t was not 

21 paying h i s share of operating costs? 

22 A. Yes, s i r . 

23 Q. Did he also not pay ope r a t i n g costs on the 

24 State CD Well? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. On your i n t e r n a l p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement, 

2 c o r r e c t me i f I'm wrong, but i t sounded l i k e i f you're 

3 p a r t i c i p a t i n g i n a w e l l and then you decide t o go 

4 nonconsent on a s t i m u l a t i o n , then you lose your 

5 p a r t i c i p a t i o n ? 

6 A. Yes. There's not an assignment t o us. So i f 

7 there had been, we would have t o sign i t back. But we 

8 don't have an assignment, so you j u s t don't have an 

9 i n t e r e s t anymore. 

10 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Those are my only 

11 questions. 

12 Do you have r e d i r e c t ? 

13 MR. BRUCE: I have a couple of questions, 

14 j u s t t o c l a r i f y . 

15 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR. BRUCE: 

17 Q. Again, w i t h respect t o the C-102 t h a t was 

18 submitted t o the D i v i s i o n i n 2004 regarding c o n s o l i d a t i o n 

19 of i n t e r e s t s , again, at t h a t time, people thought there 

20 was an operating agreement; correct? 

21 A. Yes, s i r . 

22 MR. HALL: I ' m going t o o b j e c t . Tha t ' s 

23 c o n t r a r y t o her d i r e c t tes t imony t o me. I t ' s l e a d i n g . 

24 MR. BRUCE: But i t i s her tes t imony i n a 

25 ques t ion t o me. 
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1 MR. HALL: F i r s t of a l l , he's leading. 

2 Let the record speak f o r t h a t . That's been asked and 

3 answered. 

4 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Would you care t o 

5 rephrase your question? 

6 MR. BRUCE: I ' l l rephrase i t . 

7 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Regarding the c o n s o l i d a t i o n of 

8 i n t e r e s t , what was Mack's knowledge regarding an 

9 operating agreement i n 2004? 

10 A. From the f i l e s , we thought there was an 

11 operating agreement. 

12 Q. And t h e r e f o r e , there was no need at t h a t time 

13 t o consolidate i n t e r e s t s ? 

14 A. True. 

15 MR. HALL: Again, I ob j e c t . I t ' s leading. 

16 I t c o n t r a d i c t s her own testimony. I t ' s improper. 

17 MR. BRUCE: We'll move on, Mr. Chairman. 

18 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) G e t t i n g back t o one of the 

19 f i n a l questions regarding c o n s o l i d a t i o n of i n t e r e s t s , as 

20 you said, w i t h respect t o the i n t e r n a l people at Chase, 

21 they're e i t h e r i n or out? 

22 A. Yes, s i r . 
23 Q. And o b v i o u s l y i f t h e y ' r e ou t , they d o n ' t need J 

| 
.1 

24 t o s i g n a JOA? j 
I 

25 A. True. i 
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1 Q. And i f they're i n , they're already covered by 

2 t h e i r p a r t i c i p a t i o n agreement? 

3 A. Right. 

4 Q. And again, of the other 93.75 percent of the 

5 working i n t e r e s t owners, do you know of anyone who 

6 doesn't plan on j o i n i n g i n the f r a c k job? 

7 A. There i s not anyone else. 

8 Q. I f you look at -- regarding the de c i s i o n t o 

9 suspend proceeds, would you look at your E x h i b i t 2IB, 

10 Ms. Sanders? 

11 A. (Witness complies.) 

12 Q. What i s the date of t h a t revenue statement? 

13 A. The date i s September the 29th of 2011. 

14 Q. I s t h a t the same date as the check t h a t was 

15 sent t o Mr. Ragsdale? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. So based on t h a t , i s i t proper t o say t h a t a 

18 d e c i s i o n t o suspend runs was made a f t e r t h a t date? 
19 A. Yes. I 

20 Q. And so when you sent out your i n i t i a l w e l l 1 

21 proposal t o Mr. Ragsdale, the funds had not been placed j 

22 i n suspense -- the revenues had not been placed i n j 

I 
23 suspense at t h a t time, i n August? | 

i 
24 A. R i g h t . j 
25 Q. F i n a l l y , a t the t ime t h a t the funds were j 
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suspense, Mr. Ragsdale had not paid h i s JIBs 

2 f o r approximately what p e r i o d of time? 

3 A. Two years. 

4 Q. Well, i n October of 2011? 

5 A. A year. 

6 MR. BRUCE: Thank you. That's a l l I have. 

7 MR. HALL: One1 question. 

8 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Sure. 

9 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

10 BY MR. HALL: 

11 Q • Did you agree w i t h the dec i s i o n t o place the 

12 o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t revenues i n t o suspense? 

13 A. Did I agree? 

14 Q. Yes. 

15 A. I had no p a r t of t h a t . 

16 Q. Did you disagree w i t h i t ? 

17 A. I wasn't involved i n p l a c i n g i t i n suspense. 

18 Q. A l l r i g h t . My question i s : Did you agree 

19 w i t h i t ? 

20 A. I r e a l l y d i d n ' t know i t was done u n t i l a f t e r 

21 the f a c t , so I can't say t h a t I agreed w i t h i t . 

22 Q. Do you agree w i t h i t now? 

23 A. No, s i r . 

24 MR. HALL: Okay. Nothing f u r t h e r . 

25 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Your next witness? 
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MR. BRUCE: I c a l l Mr. McCoy. 

2 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Please stand t o be 

3 sworn. 

4 . MICHAEL McCOY 

5 Having been f i r s t duly sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

7 BY MR. BRUCE: 

8 Q. Would you please s t a t e your name and c i t y of 

9 residence f o r the record? 

10 A. I'm Mike McCoy, and I l i v e i n Woodlands, 

11 Texas. 

12 Q. What i s your occupation? 

13 A. I'm a petroleum engineer. 

14 Q. Who do you work for? 

15 A. I work f o r Ely & Associates. 

16 Q. What type of work does Ely & Associates do, 

17 and what type of work do you do? 

18 A. Ely & Associates i s a hy d r a u l i c f r a c t u r i n g 

19 c o n s u l t i n g f i r m . We design h y d r a u l i c f r a c t u r i n g 

20 treatments and s t i m u l a t i o n treatments f o r w e l l s . We also 

21 have engineers t h a t go out i n t o the f i e l d and help 

22 execute these treatments. 

23 Q. Do you do t h i s j u s t i n the Permian Basin, or 

24 where do you do t h i s ? 

25 A. We do i t worldwide. Here i n the c o n t i n e n t a l 
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1 U.S. the Permian Basin, New Mexico, a l l over Texas, the 

2 Gulf of Mexico. B a s i c a l l y a l l onshore areas of North 

3 America. 

4 Q. I s Ely & Associates the l a r g e s t company doing 

5 t h i s type of work? 

6 A. Yes, s i r . 

7 Q. Do you consider i t , i n your opinion, t o be the 

8 premier company i n t h i s f i e l d ? 

9 A. Yes, s i r . 

10 Q. And have you worked on f r a c k designs and 

11 s t i m u l a t i o n i n the Permian Basin? 

12 A. Yes, I have. 

13 Q. Let's take a step back. Where d i d you go t o 

14 col l e g e , where d i d you get your degree, and where have 

15 you worked since you graduated from college? 

16 A. I graduated from Texas A&M U n i v e r s i t y i n 1983 

17 w i t h a Bachelor's of Science Degree i n Petroleum 

18 Engineering. 

19 I n May of t h a t year, I went t o work f o r Getty 

2 0 O i l Company. They subsequently were bought out by 

21 Texaco. I was working as a d r i l l i n g and production 

22 engineer there. 

23 I n 1986, I went t o work f o r P h i l l i p s 

24 Petroleum, and I was a r e s e r v o i r engineer f o r P h i l l i p s . 

25 At P h i l l i p s , the r e s e r v o i r engineers helped design the 
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1 s t i m u l a t i o n treatments and also d i d the f i e l d execution 

2 of the s t i m u l a t i o n treatments. 

3 I n 1993, I went t o work f o r MRSA O i l & Gas i n 

4 Copenhagen, Denmark, and I worked p r i m a r i l y i n the North 

5 Sea area. I n 1996 t o 2002, I went t o t h e i r Middle 

6 Eastern operations i n Qatar, and I worked the r e s e r v o i r s 

7 i n the Arabian Gulf areas as a production engineer and 

8 w e l l t e c h n o l o g i s t . 

9 Since 2002 I moved back t o the States and been 

10 w i t h Ely & Associates. I'm c u r r e n t l y one of the partners 

11 i n the f i r m . 

12 Q. Are you a Registered Professional Engineer i n 

13 any state? 

14 A. I'm a Registered Professional Engineer i n the 

15 State of Texas. 

16 Q. With respect t o the w e l l which i s the subject 

17 of the case, d i d you prepare -- analyze the w e l l and 

18 prepare a f r a c k design f o r t h i s well? 

19 A. Yes, I d i d . 

2 0 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, I tender 

21 Mr. McCoy as an expert petroleum engineer. 

22 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any objection? 

23 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

24 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: So admitted. 

25 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) F i r s t of a l l , Mr. McCoy, has a 
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1 f r a c k ever been performed on t h i s well? 

2 A. No. 

3 Q. So could you t e l l us -- we submitted t o the 

4 Commissioners your e x h i b i t marked Number 25. Could you 

5 describe what t h i s i s and what you went i n t o i n designing 

6 the f r a c k f o r t h i s well? 

7 A. I n t h i s e x h i b i t , i t ' s two pages. On the f i r s t 

8 page and on the upper p a r t of the e x h i b i t i s a p l o t of 

9 what the recommended f r a c k design i s . On the lower h a l f 

10 of the page, using t h a t recommended f r a c k , there's a 

11 f r a c t u r e p r e d i c t i o n t h a t ' s shown. I t g r a p h i c a l l y shows 

12 the p r o f i l e of the f r a c k and how large i t i s . 

13 And on the f i n a l page i t shows -- using the 

14 i n f o r m a t i o n from the f i r s t two p l o t s , i t shows the 

15 r e s u l t i n g production p r e d i c t i o n . And these were a l l 

16 generated using a f r a c t u r e s i m u l a t i o n model and 

17 production model from Fracpro. The name of the software 

18 i s Fracpro PT. 

19 Q. And what do you hope i s achieved by the f r a c k 

20 w i t h regard t o an increase i n producing rates? 

21 A. Well, what we hope t o do i s increase the 

22 production r a t e . And what the model output p r e d i c t s and 

23 what I t h i n k i s a reasonable outcome i s the production i s 

24 increased from the cur r e n t l e v e l of 22, 23 b a r r e l s a day 

25 up t o a f i r s t - y e a r average of about 60 b a r r e l s of o i l per 
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1 day. 

2 Q. I n your opinion, i s i t reasonable t o perform 

3 t h i s f r a c k on t h i s well? 

4 A. Yes, i t i s . . 

5 Q. W i l l i t increase recovery from t h i s well? 

6 A. Yes, i t w i l l . 

7 Q. Do you have an estimate of the incremental 

8 recovery as a r e s u l t of the frack? 

9 A. On the second page of the e x h i b i t i s the 

10 production forecast t h a t i s generated from using the 

11 i n p u t t e d r e s e r v o i r parameters and then the f r a c t u r e t h a t 

12 would be generated. 

13 And i n t h i s p r e d i c t i o n , over e i g h t years, i t 

14 shows a recovery of some 93,000 b a r r e l s . And I t h i n k 

15 t h a t ' s f a i r l y close t o what the reserves are. And we're 

16 s t i l l at 20 b a r r e l s a day. I f you continue t h a t d ecline 

17 out, I t h i n k there w i l l be an a d d i t i o n a l production w e l l 

18 i n excess of 10,000 b a r r e l s of a d d i t i o n a l reserves. 

19 Q. So there w i l l be some accelerated production 

20 from the f r a c k job? 

21 A. Yes, and the m a j o r i t y of the production i s 

22 p u l l e d forward i n the f i r s t three years. 

23 Q. But there w i l l also be a d d i t i o n a l recovery 

24 t h a t you wouldn't get without the f r a c k job? 

25 A. Yes, s i r . 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 53 

1 Q. Now, are there -- do you t h i n k t h i s -- you 

2 t e s t i f i e d i t ' s reasonable t o perform t h i s operation on 

3 the w e l l . There are always some r i s k s i n any type of 

4 operation on a w e l l ; i s there not? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Could you itemize a few of those? 

7 A. There's -- I t h i n k the main r i s k , there's a 

8 mechanical r i s k t o the w e l l . There's always an issue --

9 whenever you enter a w e l l t o do some operations, there's 

10 some degree of r i s k w i t h t h a t . We need t o ensure t h a t 

11 the c o n d i t i o n of the tu b u l a r s are w e l l enough t o perform 

12 the treatment. 

13 There's a r i s k t h a t we may increase water 

14 production from the w e l l . We have some basic r e s e r v o i r 

15 i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t e s s e n t i a l l y at the p o i n t of the 

16 wellbore, w i t h t h i s f r a c k , w e ' l l be able t o reach out 

17 some 300 f e e t plus from the wellbore. So we're not sure 

18 e x a c t l y what we're going t o encounter. But we used the 

19 data t h a t we have t o make the best estimate of t h a t . 

2 0 There's always a chance of in c r e a s i n g water production. 

21 There's a r i s k of j u s t the surface f r a c k 

22 equipment having a problem dur i n g the f r a c k and we don't 

23 get the treatment i n t o the ground as designed. So i t 

24 could be t h a t we pump some p a r t of the treatment less 

25 than the f u l l treatment, and we won't get the f u l l 
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1 production b e n e f i t , since we d i d n ' t get the f u l l size of 

2 the treatment i n place. 

3 Q. I f t h a t occurred, the l a s t t h i n g you said, 

4 could you go back i n and redo the frack? 

5 A. Yes, s i r . 

6 Q. Despite these r i s k s you mentioned, i s i t 

7 reasonable t o conduct t h i s f r a c k on t h i s well? 

8 A. Yes, s i r . 

9 Q. Was E x h i b i t 25 prepared by you? 

10 A. Yes, s i r i t was. 

11 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, I move the 

12 admission of E x h i b i t 25. 

13 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

14 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: So admitted. 

15 (Mack E x h i b i t 25 was admitted.) 

16 MR. BRUCE: And I pass the witness. 

17 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

18 BY MR. HALL: 

19 Q. Mr. McCoy, can you t e l l us what your 

2 0 i n s t r u c t i o n s were from Mack Energy? 

21 A. I t h i n k the I receive by email the basic 

22 r e s e r v o i r and w e l l data. And I t h i n k the i n s t r u c t i o n s 

23 were t h a t they wanted t o perform a f r a c k job on t h i s 

24 w e l l , and they wanted me t o evaluate the f r a c k job and 

2 5 make a recommendation. 
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1 Q. Did they want you t o make a recommendation 

2 about whether the f r a c k job should go forward or not? 

3 A. I'm not sure i f i t s p e c i f i c a l l y said t h a t , but 

4 t h a t was p a r t of my e v a l u a t i o n . 

5 Q. And you sa i d you u t i l i z e d a simulator, Fracpro 

6 PT? 

7 A. Yes, s i r . 

8 Q. And can you t e l l us what the inputs were f o r 

9 t h a t program t h a t you used? 

10 A. F i r s t we described the w e l l , what the casing 

11 size i s and the depth of the w e l l . We described the 

12 basic layer s of the r e s e r v o i r , the production i n t e r v a l i n 

13 the layers above and below. Those are things l i k e 

14 d i f f e r e n t rock c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s . 

15 The production i n t e r v a l , we described t h a t by 

16 what f l u i d s are i n the r e s e r v o i r and the rock p r o p e r t i e s 

17 along w i t h t h a t . And then we input a f r a c k design, which 

18 has the f l u i d volumes and the volumes of proppant and the 

19 r a t e t h a t we want t o do the treatment. I t ' s an i t e r a t i v e 

20 process of going back and lo o k i n g at d i f f e r e n t designs 

21 and seeing what we t h i n k makes sense. 

22 Q. I n terms of the r e s e r v o i r parameters f o r t h i s 

23 p a r t i c u l a r study, you say you analyzed the layers above 

24 and below. Was t h a t based on area w e l l logs? 

25 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. I n what p r o x i m i t y t o t h i s w e l l were those w e l l 

2 logs from; do you r e c a l l ? 

3 A. S p e c i f i c a l l y f o r t h i s w e l l , we had a log of 

4 the i n t e r v a l t h a t I looked a t . And I don't remember 

5 lo o k i n g at the o f f s e t w e l l s . 

6 Q. We had at l e a s t one l o g t h a t you took data 

7 from t h a t l o g , and those data were input i n t o your 

8 simulator? I s t h a t the way i t works? 

9 A. B a s i c a l l y . We also had some core an a l y s i s , 

10 and we had f l u i d p r o p e r t i e s from the production, what the 

11 w e l l produces. So those a l l went i n , too. 

12 Q. When we look at your E x h i b i t 25, the f i r s t 

13 page of t h a t , i t shows the product, your f r a c t u r e 

14 p r e d i c t i o n ; i s t h a t accurate? 

15 A. Which one of the p l o t s are you lo o k i n g at? 

16 Q. E x h i b i t 25, the p l o t at the bottom. I t says, 

17 "Fracture p r e d i c t i o n . " 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. That i s the product of running the simulator 

2 0 using your data i n p u t s ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

21 A. Yes, s i r . 

22 Q. So t h i s shows f r a c t u r e h o r i z o n t a l and v e r t i c a l 

23 lengths? 

24 A. Yes, s i r . 

25 Q. And i t assumes -- c o r r e c t me i f I'm wrong. I t 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 57 

1 takes i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n the spread of the pe r f s and the 

2 wellbore? 

3 A. Yes, s i r . 

4 Q; A minute ago you i n d i c a t e d t h a t i t ' s possible 

5 t h a t the f r a c t u r e wings could extend out 300 f e e t , and 

6 you wouldn't know what you had encountered? 

7 A. Yes, s i r . 

8 Q. And i s t h a t h o r i z o n t a l distance? 

9 A. Yes, s i r . 

10 Q. How about v e r t i c a l ? 

11 A. Well, I'm not sure i f I understand your 

12 question. 

13 But the f r a c k , i n the v e r t i c a l sense, covers 

14 the e n t i r e producing i n t e r v a l , which, on t h i s lower p l o t , 

15 i s i n yellow. So i t ' s b a s i c a l l y confined t o t h a t 

16 i n t e r v a l , the yellow i n t e r v a l . 

17 Q. So t h a t yellow i n t e r v a l shows us the e n t i r e 

18 v e r t i c a l extent of the Abo formation? 

19 A. That's what I considered as the gross 

2 0 i n t e r v a l . 

21 Q. I t ' s based on your picks o f f the w e l l log? 

22 A. Yes, and also where the zone was p e r f o r a t e d at 

23 the time. 

24 Q. How confident are you t h a t the f r a c t u r e s w i l l 

25 remain contained w i t h i n the zone? 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 58 

1 A. I n t h i s case, I'm f a i r l y c o n f i d e n t . 

2 Q. T e l l us why. 

3 A. The w e l l was d r i l l e d , and t h i s zone was put on 

4 production, and the r e s e r v o i r pressure has declined over 

5 time. So one of the key things on the f r a c t u r e growth i s 

6 the pressure at the various i n t e r v a l s . 

7 I n t e r v a l s above and below should be near 

8 v i r g i n pressure because they haven't been produced. I n 

9 the i n t e r v a l where the f r a c t u r e grows has declined from 

10 i n i t i a l pressure -- I'm going o f f memory -- of something 

11 l i k e 2,500 p s i down t o about 1,000 p s i i n r e s e r v o i r 

12 pressure. 

13 Q. Did you look at the w e l l l o g t o determine 

14 whether or not there were any b a r r i e r s separating the Abo 

15 from the upper and lower formations, any shale b a r r i e r s , 

16 anything l i k e t h a t , t h a t would contain the frack? 

17 A. I don't remember any d i s t i n c t b a r r i e r s . The 

18 primary b a r r i e r i s going t o be due t o the pressure and 

19 the r e s u l t i n g s t r e s s of o v e r l y i n g and underlying zones. 

20 Q. You i n d i c a t e d t h a t there was some r i s k t h a t 

21 you could encounter water, a d d i t i o n a l water volumes? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. What e f f e c t w i l l t h a t have? 

24 A. That w i l l increase the ope ra t i ng costs o f 

25 producing t h a t a d d i t i o n a l water . 
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1 Q. When you say, " a d d i t i o n a l water," are you 

2 t a l k i n g about water w i t h i n the Abo or other formations? 

3 A. I'm p r i m a r i l y t a l k i n g about water w i t h i n the 

4 Abo. There wasn't any i n d i c a t i o n of o i l / w a t e r contact 

5 from the i n f o r m a t i o n I reviewed. But as you move away 

6 from the w e l l , t h i n g s could happen. 

7 Q. I n the course of your analysis and 

8 recommendation t o Mack, d i d you take i n t o c o n s i d e r a t i o n 

9 the cur r e n t producing r a t e of the well? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. What's your o p i n i o n of the current producing 

12 rate? 

13 A. Well, i n general, f o r t h i s area, I would say 

14 i t ' s a good w e l l . Production rates are f a i r l y f l a t . 

15 Now, when the w e l l was put on production, there was an 

16 i n i t i a l d e c l i n e . And I t h i n k the l a s t year of production 

17 has been 22, 23 b a r r e l s a day, on average. . 

18 Q. What r i s k s t o the current r a t e of production 

19 would a f r a c k job pose? 

20 A. Well, i n my an a l y s i s , we increase the r a t e of 

21 production w i t h a f r a c k j o b . 

22 Q. But you're not saying there are no r i s k s posed 

23 by the f r a c k j o b ; correct? 

24 A. Correct. But you're asking s p e c i f i c a l l y about 

25 the o i l rate? 
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1 Q. Yes. 

2 A. Okay. 

3 Q. I s there a r i s k -- does the r i s k e x i s t t h a t 

4 the c u r r e n t r a t e of production, the current d e c l i n e , 

5 could be adversely a f f e c t e d by f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

6 A. Yes. There's r i s k s t o the w e l l whenever - -as 

7 I s a i d before, whenever you go i n t o a w e l l , there's 

8 mechanical r i s k s going i n t o i t . So there are some r i s k s 

9 t o the w e l l . 

10 Q. I n your view, i s the f r a c k job necessary f o r 

11 the p r e s e r v a t i o n of the well? 

12 A. I haven't done a f u l l - l i f e a nalysis of what 

13 happens t o the reserves at the end of the l i f e of the 

14 w e l l . Production r a t e i s f a i r l y f l a t at 22, 23 b a r r e l s 

15 per day, and I t h i n k i t ' s a l o n g - l i f e type r e s e r v o i r i f 

16 you look at i t l i k e t h a t . I'm not sure what the average 

17 l i f e t i m e of the w e l l i s . 

18 But w i t h the f r a c k job, what should happen i s 

19 the o i l production should be p u l l forward so t h a t you can 

20 recover t h a t o i l e a r l i e r and not r i s k i t l a t e r i n the 

21 l i f e of the w e l l . 

22 Q. So you would agree w i t h me t h a t the w e l l i s 

23 producing at an e f f i c i e n t and economic r a t e c u r r e n t l y ? 

24 A. I t ' s at an economic r a t e . 

25 Q. I s there -- do you have any in f o r m a t i o n t h a t 
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1 shows us t h a t t h a t current economic r a t e won't continue 

2 f o r some time i n the future? 

3 A. There's no i n f o r m a t i o n t o c o n t r a d i c t t h a t . 

4 Q. Let's t a l k about f r a c k jobs i n Abo. I t ' s 

5 limestone; correct?. 

6 A. Yes, s i r . 

7 Q. I s a f r a c k job p r e f e r a b l e t o an acid job t o 

8 improve production from limestone r e s e r v o i r s l i k e the Abo 

9 as the f i r s t option? 

10 A. I t ' s hard t o say from a generalized comment 

11 l i k e t h a t . There are a l o t of f a c t o r s t h a t go i n t o how 

12 we choose what the f i r s t s t i m u l a t i o n should be. But 

13 maybe another way t o answer i t i s i t ' s q u i t e common t o 

14 f r a c t u r e simulate carbonate formations, limestone 

15 formations. 

16 Q. Does an ac i d job pose less of a r i s k t o 

17 production than f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

18 A. There are some r i s k s t h a t are s i m i l a r t o j u s t 

19 r e - e n t e r i n g the w e l l or doing work on the w e l l . The 

2 0 pressures may be s i m i l a r or close t o the same magnitude 

21 i f there was an ac i d job i n i t i a l l y performed on t h i s 

22 w e l l . 

23 Q. I n the course o f your a n a l y s i s , d i d you look 

24 f o r any analogs? Did you look a t any o ther f r a c t u r e 

25 recomplet ions i n o ther Abo producers i n the area? 
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1 A. No. 

2 Q. Do you know i f there are any? 

3 A. I'm not p e r s o n a l l y f a m i l i a r w i t h t h a t , no. 

4 Q. I f the f r a c k job i s performed, are you 

5 inv o l v e d i n the post-operation r e s u l t s ? Do you analyze 

6 those f o r Mack? 

7 A. Well, i n general, what Ely & Associates does 

8 i s we do t h a t type of work, and I do t h a t on a regul a r 

9 basis. On t h i s p a r t i c u l a r w e l l , I haven't been asked t o 

10 do anything i n the f u t u r e . 

11 Q. Do you agree t h a t the p r e d i c t i o n t h a t you show 

12 on E x h i b i t Number 25 i s r e a l l y speculative? 

13 A. Well, I ' d say i t ' s based on sound engineering 

14 p r i n c i p l e s and p r a c t i c e s . We took the best data t h a t we 

15 had f o r the w e l l and the r e s e r v o i r , and we put t h a t i n t o 

16 a numerical model t h a t f o l l o w s the laws of physics. 

17 And the p r e d i c t i o n at the end, i t gets down t o 

18 t h a t l a s t page. B a s i c a l l y we're saying we're going t o 

19 put a f r a c k job on the w e l l and t r i p l e production i n the 

2 0 f i r s t year. I t h i n k t h a t ' s very reasonable. I t h i n k 

21 t h a t f i t s common r e s e r v o i r engineering p r i n c i p l e s of 

22 improving s k i n on a w e l l , which i s a degree of 

23 s t i m u l a t i o n , from a small aci d job t o a f r a c k job of t h i s 

24 s i z e . We're t a l k i n g about -- an increase of three, I 

25 t h i n k i s very reasonable. 
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1 MR. HALL: Thank you, Mr. McCoy. No 

2 f u r t h e r questions. 

3 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Mr. Dawson? 

4 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have a question. 

5 EXAMINATION 

6 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

7 Q. Do you f e e l t h a t i f a f r a c k job was never 

8 conducted on t h i s w e l l , t h a t there would be a loss of 

9 increment reserves on t h i s w e l l t h a t could be produced i n 

10 the future? 

11 A. Yes, s i r . 

12 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: No f u r t h e r 

13 questions. Thank you. 

14 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Mr. McCoy, thank 

15 you f o r t e s t i f y i n g today. I have a couple of questions. 

16 EXAMINATION 

17 BY ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: 

18 Q. What's, i n your e s t i m a t i o n , the cost of t h i s 

19 f r a c k job as proposed? 

20 A. I d i d n ' t look a t the costs of t h i s . But I 

21 would t h i n k i t would be probably around a couple hundred, 

22 $300,000 f o r the f r a c k j o b i t s e l f , although the p r i c e s 

23 are changing almost d a i l y i n the f r a c k i n d u s t r y . 

24 Q. So about a t h i r d of the value of the 

25 incremental recovery i f you're going t o recover 10,000 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 64 

1 b a r r e l s at around $80 a b a r r e l ? 

2 A. Yes, s i r . 

3 Q. You i n d i c a t e d t h a t you got a l o t of your 

4 r e s e r v o i r data from logs on the w e l l i t s e l f ? 

5 A. And s i d e w a l l core a n a l y s i s . 

6 Q. I s t h i s an open or a casehole p e r f o r a t i o n ? 

7 A. I t ' s a case hole. I t ' s p e r f o r a t e d two shorts, 

8 I t h i n k , per f o o t of the i n t e r v a l . 

9 Q. When was i t d r i l l e d ? 

10 A. I don't remember the date of the d r i l l i n g . 

11 Q. I n o t i c e there was a f i r s t operating agreement 

12 i n 1960, so somewhere probably around 50 years o l d , 

13 apparently. 

14 What logs were c o l l e c t e d i n i t i a l l y , or were 

15 there a d d i t i o n a l casing logs c o l l e c t e d l a t e r on? What 

16 logs d i d you look at? 

17 A. I don't remember the logs -- the name of the 

18 logs I looked at on t h i s p a r t i c u l a r w e l l . I d i d t h i s 

19 analysis months ago on i t . 

20 But what was key i n my r e s e r v o i r 

21 c h a r a c t e r i z a t i o n was the s i d e w a l l core analysis t h a t we 

22 had on i t . 

23 Q. Do you know when the s i d e w a l l was collected? 

24 Presumably, when the w e l l was d r i l l e d ? 

25 A. I'm sure i t was when the w e l l was d r i l l e d . 
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Q. Was a mass balance performed f o r the well? 

2 A. M a t e r i a l balance on recovery? 

3 Q. Right. 

4 A. No. 

5 Q. From your analysis of the logs, what were the 

6 bounding layers? We have the Abo t h a t ' s carbonate. 

7 What's above i t and below i t ? 

8 A. The main t h i n g I use as boundary i s the 

9 pressure of the i n t e r v a l . So the stress which i s going 

10 t o c o n t a i n the f r a c t u r e i s going t o be h i g h l y dependent 

11 on the pressure. I t ' s going t o be the most important 

12 f a c t o r on t h i s . 

13 So the boundary layers -- the bounding stress 

14 i s b u i l t o f f the i n i t i a l pressure minus what has been 

15 p u l l e d out of the w e l l . So the 2,500 p s i from i n i t i a l 

16 pressure down t o a current estimate of about 1,000 p s i . 

17 So --

18 Q. My question r e a l l y was what about the 

19 l i t h o l o g y . Fracpro doesn't use l i t h o l o g y , i t j u s t uses 

20 pressures? 

21 A. I t uses stresses. 

22 Q. So t h a t ' s i m p l i e d from l i t h o l o g y ? 

23 A. L i t h o l o g y and pressure. 

24 Q. What's the l i t h o l o g y of the rock above t h i s 

25 p a r t i c u l a r i n t e r v a l ? 
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1 A. I had s i m i l a r - t y p e formations above and below 

2 as f a r as -- the rock characters are Young's modulus, 

3 Poisson's r a t i o . That's what's i n p u t t e d i n t o the la y e r s . 

4 I t ' s not n e c e s s a r i l y whether i t ' s a carbonate or a 

5 sandstone or a shale. I t ' s more the s t r e n g t h of those 

6 layers and what k i n d of stress i t has. 

7 Q. So t h i s i s a productive carbonate i n t e r v a l 

8 bounded by the carbonate i n t e r v a l s ? 

9 A. That's the way I had i t modeled. For the 

10 model, the bounding layers -- the most important p a r t i s 

11 what the st r e s s i s i n those layer s and what the 

12 mechanical p r o p e r t i e s show. What's i n the model i s 

13 s i m i l a r mechanical p r o p e r t i e s throughout t h i s i n t e r v a l 

14 w i t h the main d i f f e r e n c e i n the pressure, which r e s u l t s 

15 i n a d i f f e r e n t s t r e s s . 

16 Q. On the diagram on the bottom of E x h i b i t 25, 

17 across what i n t e r v a l were the s i d e w a l l data collected? 

18 A. I t was throughout t h i s i n t e r v a l and above and 

19 below the i n t e r v a l also. 

20 Q. So you have lab measures, rock property values 

21 from bounding layers and the producing i n t e r v a l ? 

22 A. Yes, s i r . I f I remember c o r r e c t l y , there's 

23 i n t e r v a l s other than the Abo formation t h a t were i n t h a t 

24 dataset. 

25 Q. And i n your diagram on the bottom of E x h i b i t 
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25, where are the p e r f o r a t i o n s i n t h i s w e l l , 

2 approximately? 

3 A. The p e r f o r a t i o n s are p r e t t y much blanket 

4 throughout t h i s i n t e r v a l . I n yellow, several hundred 

5 f e e t of p e r f o r a t i o n s , shot at two shots per f o o t . 

6 Q. What i s the height of t h i s i n t e r v a l ? 

7 A. I t h i n k the gross i n t e r v a l here i s , i f I 

8 remember c o r r e c t l y , about 260 f e e t . 

9 Q. And you're proposing t o do a f r a c t u r e job 

10 across the e n t i r e i n t e r v a l ? 

11 A. The e n t i r e i n t e r v a l i s open. And I t h i n k the 

12 way the f r a c k w i l l take o f f , i t w i l l s t a r t i n the weakest 

13 p o i n t w i t h i n t h a t i n t e r v a l and grow from t h a t p o i n t 

14 outward. 

15 Q. So you're doing a number of stages? 

16 A. There's one pumping operation. "Stages" mean 

17 d i f f e r e n t t h i n g s t o -- I'm not t r y i n g t o avoid your 

18 question. What do you mean by, "stages." 

19 Q. Where are you packing o f f t o contain your 

20 f r a c t u r e f l u i d i n the formation? 

21 A. Where are we packing o f f ? 

22 Q. You're going t o t r y t o i s o l a t e an i n t e r v a l , 

23 and you're going t o put the f l u i d i n t o the r e s e r v o i r . 

24 What i s t h a t i n t e r v a l ? 

25 A. The complete open i n t e r v a l of roughly 260 f e e t 
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t o be open, and w e ' l l s t i m u l a t e t h a t whole 

2 i n t e r v a l at one time. At l e a s t t h a t ' s the way the 

3 analysis was run. 

4 Q. Do you know what the current water cut is? 

5 A. I t h i n k the water production r i g h t now i s -- I 

6 t h i n k i t ' s 17, 18 b a r r e l s per day, and we're at 22, 23 on 

7 the o i l . 

8 Q. My l a s t question has t o do w i t h the p r e d i c t i o n 

9 of production on the second page of E x h i b i t 25. What 

10 s o r t of e r r o r margins would you apply t o the p r e d i c t e d 

11 production chart? 

12 A. I d i d n ' t . 

13 Q. Does Fracpro give you an analysis of e r r o r or 

14 a plus or minus range? 

15 A. I n a roundabout way i t does, i f we do a 

16 s e n s i t i v i t y on the input a n a l y s i s . But t h i s p r e d i c t i o n 

17 was run j u s t c a r r y i n g the v a r i a b l e s through from what the 

18 design of the f r a c k was on i n t o the p r e d i c t i v e case. 

19 But I could have gone i n and v a r i e d pressure 

20 and p e r m e a b i l i t y , and the o i l p r o p e r t i e s would have been 

21 the main thi n g s t h a t impact the production r a t e . 

22 Q. But you d i d not get i n t o t h a t exercise? 

23 A. No. 

24 Q. You've done an awful Tot of these p r e d i c t i o n s ; 

25 r i g h t ? 
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1 A. Right. 

2 Q. Do you ever f o l l o w up and see how w e l l they 

3 compare t o your p r e d i c t i o n ? 

4 A. Yes, s i r . 

5 Q. I n general, how w e l l have they compared? 

6 A. I t ' s always a f u n c t i o n of how good our data i s 

7 going i n and how good we understood the r e s e r v o i r . I f 

8 the data i s exact, then we have a p r e t t y good p r e d i c t i o n . 

9 Normally, the p r e d i c t i o n s are good. There's confidence 

10 i n the models, but they can always be o f f . 

11 Q. Right. So i n your personal experience, how 

12 o f t e n do you h i t the mark? 

13 A. I would say i f you're t a l k i n g about the mark 

14 w i t h i n engineering accuracy, plus or minus 20 percent. I 

15 t h i n k we're there w e l l over h a l f the time. 

16 Q. And the other h a l f of the time? 

17 A. We can be o f f e i t h e r because we d i d n ' t 

18 understand the r e s e r v o i r going i n and the fr a c k job 

19 s t i m u l a t i o n treatment d i d n ' t go as planned, or there's 

20 some other f a c t o r t h a t came i n t o play. 

21 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I have no f u r t h e r 

22 questions. 

23 Do you have r e d i r e c t ? 
24 MR. BRUCE: I do not have any r e d i r e c t , 

25 Mr. Chairman. 
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1 I would p o i n t out t h a t i n E x h i b i t 4 there i s 

2 the completion r e p o r t . And I would j u s t p o i n t out t h a t 

3 the p e r f o r a t e d i n t e r v a l i s 8,644 f e e t down t o 8,914 f e e t , 

4 which corresponds w i t h the witness's memory. 

5 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Okay. 

6 MR. BRUCE: One other t h i n g w i t h respect 

7 t o t h i s witness. Mr. McCoy needs t o get back t o Houston, 

8 and I would ask t h a t he be excused so he can go catch a 

9 plane. 

10 MR. HALL: I have no o b j e c t i o n . 

11 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Then you may be 

12 excused. 

13 This may be a good time f o r a 10-minute break. 

14 (A recess was taken.) 

15 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I believe you have 

16 one more witness? 

17 MR. BRUCE: One more witness. 

18 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Please stand t o be 

19 sworn. 

2 0 LEE LIVINGSTON 

21 Having been f i r s t duly sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

22 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

23 BY MR. BRUCE: 

24 Q. Please s t a t e your name f o r the r eco rd . 

25 A. W i l l i a m Lee L i v i n g s t o n . 
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1 Q. Where do you reside? 

2 A. A r t e s i a , New Mexico. 

3 Q. Who do you work f o r and i n what capacity? 

4 A. I work f o r Mack Energy Corporation, and I'm 

5 the current operations manager. 

6 Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the 

7 Commission? 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. Summarize your educational and employment 

10 background f o r the Commissioners. 

11 A. I graduated i n 2004 from New Mexico State 

12 U n i v e r s i t y w i t h a degree i n mechanical engineering. I 

13 went to, work f o r Mack Energy i n 2002 p a r t time. I went 

14 t o work f o r them f u l l time i n 2004. I worked as a pumper 

15 f o r a year, a d r i l l i n g and completion foreman f o r four 

16 years, and the l a s t f o u r years I have worked as an 

17 operations and reserve engineer. 

18 Q. Does your area of r e s p o n s i b i l i t y at Mack 

19 include the area included w i t h i n t h i s p o o l i n g 

20 a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the engineering matters 

23 r e l a t e d t o t h i s a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, I tender 
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1 Mr. L i v i n g s t o n as an expert petroleum engineer. 

2 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

3 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: So admitted. 

4 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Before we get i n t o the more 

5 t e c h n i c a l aspects, Mr. L i v i n g s t o n , d i d you pe r s o n a l l y 

6 have contacts w i t h r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s of Mr. Ragsdale a f t e r 

7 the f r a c k proposal was sent t o him? 

8 A. I d i d not, but I d i d w i t h one of h i s 

9 employees. 

10 Q. Could you describe who t h a t person was and 

11 what your contacts consisted of? 

12 A. Yes. I was contacted by Mr. Matt Dauffer 

13 sometime i n September. He c a l l e d me, and had a few 

14 questions on what we were planning on doing w i t h the 

15 w e l l . 

16 I k i n d of went over i t w i t h him, t o l d him we 

17 were going t o f r a c k and t r y t o increase production, gave 

18 a b r i e f summary of what we were planning t o do. At t h a t 

19 p o i n t , he s t a t e d t h a t t h a t sounded good. He'd t r y t o get 

2 0 w i t h Mr. Ragsdale t o get the AFE signed, and t h a t was the 

21 end of the conversation. 

22 A few weeks went by, no word from Mr. Ragsdale 

23 or Mr. Dauffer. That i s when I contacted him again and 

24 asked i f the AFE had been signed. I was t o l d i t had not 

25 been, but he would t r y t o speak w i t h Mr. Ragsdale t h a t 
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1 afternoon. 

2 Hoping t o get the matter f i n i s h e d , I contacted 

3 Mr. Dauffer again t h a t morning and asked him -- we were 

4 going t o have some gentlemen i n Midland, and i f we could 

5 stop by and p i c k up the AFE t o make matters easier. 

6 And at t h a t p o i n t , I was informed t h a t 

7 Mr. Ragsdale needed more time t o review the AFE and would 

8 not be si g n i n g i t at t h a t time. There was no more 

9 communication a f t e r t h a t p o i n t , and t h a t was probably i n 

10 October. 

11 Q. October 2011? 

12 A. Yes, s i r . 

13 Q. Did Mr. Dauffer ever question any of the AFE 

14 costs? 

15 A. No, not r e a l l y . There was no issues i n 

16 regards t o the AFE costs or the procedure. 

17 Q. So w i t h respect t o the procedure, they r e a l l y 

18 d i d n ' t ask much, e i t h e r ? 

19 A. No, s i r . Just general questions. I thought I 

20 had them answered. I f e l t l i k e I d i d . There was no more 

21 issues t h a t I was aware o f . 

22 Q. Now, there was an AFE sent w i t h the proposal 

23 i n August of 2011. Has a more recent AFE been prepared? 

24 A. Correct. 

25 Q. I s t h a t marked as E x h i b i t 26? 
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1 A. I t i s . 

2 Q. Could you go through t h a t and discuss the 

3 estimated costs of the procedure t h a t you plan on doing? 

4 A. This i s your basic AFE f o r workover 

5 recompletion. I t ' s f o r $298,000. This includes seven 

6 days' worth of p o o l i n g u n i t time, a l l your f u e l , a l l your 

7 water, a l l your r e n t a l s . I t goes from your f r a c k tanks, 

8 your packers, your t o o l s . This also includes a casing 

9 i n s p e c t i o n l o g , an a c i d cleanup job and a f r a c k job and 

10 supervision. 

11 Q. And I n o t i c e you say 298,000 plus d o l l a r s . I t 

12 looks l i k e you included about a 10 percent contingency 

13 fee --

14 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

15 Q. -- j u s t i n case? 

16 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

17 Q. Based on 271,000; r i g h t ? 

18 A. Yes, s i r . 

19 Q. Just because some th i n g s happen t h a t you can't 

20 plan on? 

21 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

22 Q. I s t h i s AFE f a i r and reasonable? 

23 A. I t i s , i n my opi n i o n . Mack Energy c u r r e n t l y 

24 updates a l l t h e i r p r i c i n g on a q u a r t e r l y basis so we can 

25 stay c u r r e n t w i t h the market p r i c e s . 
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Would t h i s AFE be comparable w i t h the costs of 

2 s i m i l a r f r a c k jobs f o r w e l l s of t h i s depth i n t h i s area 

3 of New Mexico? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. What are E x h i b i t s 2 7 and 28? 

6 A. These are fr a c k bids I got from two separate 

7 companies One i s from E l i t e Well Services and one i s 

8 from U l t r a Tech Frac. They came i n at $148,000. E l i t e 

9 Well Services came i n at $144,000. 

10 Q. So you pe r s o n a l l y asked f o r these estimates? 

11 A. Correct. 

12 Q. And both estimates are r e a l l y j u s t a couple 

13 thousand bucks apart? 

14 A. Correct. Very s i m i l a r . 

15 Q. So you have confidence i n the cost of the 

16 fr a c k and the cost of your AFE? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Let's go t o some questions t h a t -- maybe 

19 f o l l o w up on some questions t h a t were asked of Mr. McCoy. 

20 Mr. McCoy t a l k e d about logs on the w e l l . When were those 

21 acquired? 

22 A. They were run i n 2004, when we re-entered the 

23 w e l l . 

24 Q. So they're a l l modern logs? 

25 A. Correct. 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
OOb02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



1 
Page 76 

Q. And the c o r i n g was done i n 2004 also? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. What about -- the other question i s the 

4 l i t h o l o g y . Have you reviewed the logs, and can you 

5 discuss t h a t w i t h respect t o zones above and below --

6 A. I have looked at the logs. E s s e n t i a l l y what 

7 you have above you i s more Abo dolomite, a t i g h t e r 

8 s e c t i o n . You've got about 56 0 f e e t before you get t o the 

9 top of the Abo re e f . And below, you have a t i g h t e r and 

10 shaley Abo s e c t i o n d i r e c t l y below the p e r f o r a t e d 

11 i n t e r v a l . 

12 Q. I n your opinion, i s the p e r f o r a t e d i n t e r v a l 

13 w e l l contained i n the zone? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Let's t a l k about -- you l i s t e n e d t o Mr. McCoy 

16 t e s t i f y ; d i d you not? 

17 A. Yes, s i r . 

18 Q. And he t e s t i f i e d about accelerated recovery 

19 and incremental recovery. Let's look at the accelerated 

20 recovery. How would t h a t b e n e f i t the working i n t e r e s t 

21 owners i n the well? 

22 A. The l i f e of the reserves r i g h t now are 30 

23 years, the way the w e l l i s c u r r e n t l y producing. I f we 

24 were t o f r a c k i t , we would accelerate recovery t o 10 

25 years, which would probably give us an estimated 
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1 operating expense savings of around 400- t o $500,000 over 

2 the l i f e of the w e l l . 

3 Q. Besides j u s t the incremental reserves which 

4 Mr. McCoy t a l k e d about, there are s u b s t a n t i a l savings and 

5 lower operating costs d u r i n g the l i f e of t h i s w e l l by 

6 conducting the frack? 

7 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

8 Q. I n your o p i n i o n , w i l l t h i s f r a c k pay out the 

9 cost of the operation? 

10 A. Yes. According t o Mr. McCoy's data, t h i s w e l l 

11 should pay out i n probably around two months. 

12 Q. Do you agree w i t h Mr. McCoy t h a t there are 

13 always r i s k s i n r e - e n t e r i n g a well? 

14 A. Yes, I do. 

15 Q. But do you t h i n k i n t h i s instance, because of 

16 the incremental recovery, because of the reduced 

17 operating costs, i t ' s reasonable t o take those r i s k s t o 

18 perform the f r a c k j o b on t h i s well? 

19 A. I do. 

20 Q. I n your o p i n i o n , i s a cost plus 200 percent 

21 r i s k charge appropriate i f an i n t e r e s t owner goes 

22 nonconsent i n t h i s well? 

23 A. I t i s . 

24 Q. Were E x h i b i t s 26, 27 and 28 e i t h e r prepared by 

2 5 you or compiled f rom your records? J 
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A. 26 was made by me. 27 and 2 8 were compiled 

2 f o r me by another service company. 

3 Q. I n your opinion, i s the g r a n t i n g of t h i s 

4 a p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t of conservation and the 

5 prevention of waste? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 MR. BRUCE: Mr. Chairman, I ' d move the 

8 admission of E x h i b i t s 26, 27 and 28. 

9 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any objection? 

10 MR. HALL: No o b j e c t i o n . 

11 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: So admitted. 

12 (Mack E x h i b i t s 26, 27 and 28 were admitted.) 

13 MR. BRUCE: And I pass the witness. 

14 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

15 BY MR. HALL: 

16 Q. Mr. L i v i n g s t o n , l e t me ask you about your AFE, 

17 E x h i b i t 26, and ask you t o compare the costs r e f l e c t e d on 

18 t h a t one w i t h the one t h a t was o r i g i n a l l y sent t o Mr. 

19 Ragsdale about -- the o r i g i n a l estimate was 234,000? 

20 A. Yes, s i r . 

21 Q. To what do we a t t r i b u t e the difference? 

22 A. This AFE, the f i r s t one, was w r i t t e n almost a 

23 year ago. The i n d u s t r y has seen an increase i n p r i c e s , 

24 e s p e c i a l l y on the f r a c k and pumping side. Your GOR, 

25 m a t e r i a l , which i s your basic m a t e r i a l s f o r your g e l 
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1 system, has gone up, and your sand has gone up. The 

2 higher the market, the higher p r i c e s . 

3 Q. The equipment, f o r instance, the d r i l l i n g 

4 u n i t , the costs f o r which we assume are r e f l e c t e d i n t h i s 

5 AFE; correct? 1 

6 A. Correct. 

7 Q. I s t h a t owned by Mack Energy? 

8 A. Which one? 

9 Q. The po o l i n g u n i t . 

10 A. That i s c o r r e c t , yes, s i r . 

11 Q. What other equipment would be owned by Mack? 

12 A. Some of the r e n t a l s w i l l be owned by Mack, 

13 such as the f r a c k tanks, the reverse u n i t s . 

14 Q. I ' l l ask you about' your conversations w i t h Mr. 

15 Dauffer and the request t o o r i g i n a l l y execute the AFE. 

16 When you made t h a t request w i t h Mr. Dauffer i n 2011, were 

17 you aware t h a t Mr. Ragsdale's revenues had been shut o f f ? 

18 A. I was not. 

19 Q. Do you know i f Mr. Dauffer knew t h a t the 

2 0 revenues had been shut o f f ? 

21 A. No, I don't b e l i e v e so. 

22 Q. When d i d you f i r s t become aware t h a t 

23 Mr. Ragsdale's revenues had been shut o f f ? 

24 A. About f i v e days ago, when they decided t o send 

25 h i s check t o him. 
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1 Q. Were.you involved i n the d e c i s i o n t o send h i s 

2 check? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Do you know i f any costs were netted out of 

5 t h a t check? 

6 A. I do not know. 

7 Q. Do you know i f Mack Energy had any 

8 a u t h o r i z a t i o n t o net costs out of t h a t check? 

9 A. I do not know. 

10 Q. Let me ask you about the request f o r the 200 

11 percent r i s k penalty. How can you j u s t i f y asking f o r 

12 cost plus 200 percent when t h i s i s not a new d r i l l ? The 

13 r i s k s are not the same, are they? 

14 A. I f the r i s k s aren't the same, wouldn't you 

15 want t o j o i n i t ? 

16 Q • Say again. 

17 A. I f the r i s k s aren't the same, would you not 

18 want t o j o i n i t ? I f there are low r i s k s , c o r r e c t --

19 Q. I agree w i t h you. 

20 A. -- you should j o i n i t . 

21 Q. So the r i s k s are not the same as a new d r i l l ; 

22 i s t h a t correct? 

23 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

24 Q. We don't have any geologic r i s k s ? We know the 

25 geology i s t h e r e ; i s t h a t correct? 
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1 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

2 Q. We don't have any mechanical r i s k s from 

3 d r i l l i n g and completing an i n i t i a l w e l l ; correct? 

4 A. You have mechanical r i s k s any time you 

5 re-enter a w e l l . 

6 Q. They're not the same as when you're d r i l l i n g a 

7 new w e l l ; do you agree? 

8 A. No, I do not agree. 

9 Q. Are they the same? 

10 A. I t depends on the c o n d i t i o n of the w e l l . I 

11 have not gone out there and pooled i t . I have not seen 

12 the shape of the casing. 

13 Q. I n t h i s well? 

14 A. I n t h i s w e l l . I don't know yet , u n t i l I can 

15 get on the w e l l and a c t u a l l y look at i t and run a casing 

16 i n s p e c t i o n l o g . 

17 Q. Do you agree t h a t the f r a c k job i s r e a l l y 

18 speculative? 

19 A. No, I do not. 

20 Q. You sat.through Mr. McCoy's testimony. He 

21 said, i n e f f e c t , t h a t he has a 50 percent degree of 

22 confidence i n h i s a n a l y s i s . Do you have any reason t o 

23 disagree w i t h that? 

24 A. I do not. 

25 Q. Do you share the same degree o f confidence? 
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We're lo o k i n g at f i f t y - f i f t y . 

2 A. No. I a c t u a l l y t h i n k there's a higher degree. 

3 We have p r e t t y good c o n t r o l i n t h i s w e l l . We have good 

4 i n f o r m a t i o n from the core data, the logs. We know what's 

5 producing. We know where the pay i s a t . We know what's 

6 above and below us. 

7 T y p i c a l l y speaking, we're not p u t t i n g a 

8 thousand-foot f r a c k on t h i s , we're p u t t i n g 300 f o o t . The 

9 l i t h o l o g y should not change much. I t h i n k there's a 

10 g r e a t e r success r a t e than 50 percent. 

11 Q. Did you look at any other examples i n the area 

12 of f r a c k jobs performed on Abo wells? 

13 A. There haven't been any f r a c k jobs i n t h a t 

14 area. Most of those w e l l s around t h a t area w i t h i n a 

15 three-mile radius are ol d e r w e l l s , d r i l l e d i n the '60s. 

16 The i n i t i a l completion was an a c i d job done t o i t , so 

17 there was no data. 

18 Q. I n your op i n i o n , were the acid s t i m u l a t i o n s 

19 s u f f i c i e n t ? 

20 A. No, I don't t h i n k so. I t h i n k there's more 

21 reserves i n the w e l l . 

22 Q. Do you have any explanation f o r why f r a c t u r e 

23 jobs weren't performed on those other Abo analogs you 

24 looked at? 

25 A. T y p i c a l l y , f r a c t u r e technology has grown i n 
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1 the l a s t 50 years. S i x t y years ago, when the d r i l l i n g 

2 was going i n , and i f he could make a w e l l w i t h acid, 

3 t h a t ' s probably what he d i d . That doesn't mean a f r a c k 

4 job won't work on the w e l l , though. 

5 Q. Would i t be more prudent t o perform an a c i d 

6 s t i m u l a t i o n on t h i s w e l l p r i o r t o undertaking the r i s k s 

7 i n v o l v e d w i t h f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

8 A. I a c t u a l l y would perform a very small a c i d 

9 j o b . But mainly t h a t would be f o r cleanup purposes, t o 

10 make sure p e r f o r a t i o n s are open and w e ' l l be able t o 

11 e s t a b l i s h a f r a c t u r e . 

12 Q. So you do plan on doing that? 

13 A. I do plan on doing a small a c i d j o b . 

14 Q. I s t h a t p a r t of the f r a c t u r e recompletion AFE? 

15 A. I t i s i n there, the cost, c o r r e c t . 

16 Q- Back t o my question, though. Do you t h i n k i t 

17 would be more prudent t o perform simply an acid 

18 s t i m u l a t i o n and wait f o r the r e s u l t s of that? 

19 A. I do not. 

2 0 Q. Okay. Why not? 

21 A. Well, I t h i n k you're going t o contact more 

22 r e s e r v o i r w i t h a f r a c k j o b . An a c i d job i s very l i m i t e d 

23 i n what they can reach. Acid expends, e s p e c i a l l y at t h a t 

24 depth, very q u i c k l y . And you're only c o n t a c t i n g very 

25 l i t t l e r e s e r v o i r , versus a f r a c k j o b . 
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Q. Do you p e r s o n a l l y have any involvement i n 

2 performing or supervising a f r a c k j o b i n an Abo well? 

3 A. I do. I w i l l be out there on t h i s j o b . 

4 Q. Do you have any p r i o r experience? 

5 A. I've probably fracked over 500 we l l s i n the 

6 l a s t 10 years. 

7 Q. My question i s : Do you have any experience 

8 w i t h Abo? 

9 A. Yes, I do have experience w i t h Abo. 

10 Q. Fracture jobs? 

11 A. Yes, s i r , I do. 

12 Q. And d i d you b r i n g those r e s u l t s f o r us here 

13 today t o look at? 

14 A. No, because they're not conclusive. I t ' s not 

15 i n the same area. 

16 Q. The r e s u l t s are inconclusive? 

17 A. No. I misspoke. I t doesn't p e r t a i n t o t h i s 

18 p a r t i c u l a r w e l l because I don't have any r e s u l t s of 

19 o f f s e t t i n g data. 

20 Q. I s , i n your opinion, the f r a c t u r e recompletion 

21 necessary t o preserve the well? 

22 A. No. 

23 Q. I s the f r a c t u r e recompletion necessary t o 

24 reserve a lease? 

25 A. No. 
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1 Q. I s there any r i s k of lease t e r m i n a t i o n due t o 

2 imminent cessation of production? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Can the w e l l and the lease be preserved 

5 through production t o the current completion? 

6 A. I t can. 

7 Q. Do you own an i n t e r e s t i n the well? 

8 A. I do not. 

9 Q. Do you have the o p p o r t u n i t y t o p a r t i c i p a t e 

10 under the employee p a r t i c i p a t i o n plan? 

11 A. No, I do not. 

12 Q. So you've not been provided w i t h an AFE --

13 A. I don't have an i n t e r e s t . 

14 Q. -- other than your own? 

15 Who came up w i t h the idea t o f r a c t u r e t h i s 

16 well? 

17 A. I t was myself; our g e o l o g i s t , Matt Brewer; and 

18 Charles Sadler; and Mack Chase. 

19 Q. And when was t h a t d e c i s i o n made? 

20 A. Probably e a r l y August of 2011. 

21 Q. And why d i d you se l e c t t h i s w e l l as a 

22 candidate f o r f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

23 A. I t looks l i k e a good w e l l t o recomplete. We 

24 know the reserves are there, and we t h i n k we can get more 

25 by f r a c k i n g i t . 
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Do you have plans t o perform f r a c k jobs on any 

2 other Abo w e l l s i n the area? 

3 A. If . i t works, I don't see why we wouldn't. 

4 Q. Does Mack own and operate any other Abo 

5 producers i n the v i c i n i t y ? 

6 A. Yes. I f I'm not mistaken, the State CD i s an 

7 Abo w e l l , which i s an o f f s e t t i n g lease. And there i s a 

8 P&A'd w e l l on the Cockburn l o c a t i o n , the Cockburn Number 

9 1, t h a t you could take a chance and re-enter. 

10 Q. How would you cha r a c t e r i z e the current 

11 production r a t e f o r the well?" 

12 A. F l a t . 

13 Q. Is t h a t desirable? 

14 A. I t i s . 

15 Q. Are we p l a c i n g t h a t current f l a t production 

16 r a t e at r i s k at a l l by a f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

17 A. I don't b e l i e v e so, no. 

18 Q. You have 50 percent confidence i n t h a t or 100 

19 percent confidence? 

20 A. I'd go 80. 

21 MR. HALL: Okay. No f u r t h e r questions of 

22 the witness. 

23 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Mr. Dawson, do you 

24 have any questions? 

25 
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1 EXAMINATION 

2 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

3 Q. On some of the other Abo w e l l s t h a t you have 

4 fracked before, I know they're not i n the immediate area, 

5 but have you had p r e t t y encouraging r e s u l t s w i t h those? 

6 A. Yes, s i r , we have. 

7 Q. Do you have an estimate of maybe incremental 

8 reserves? I s i t l i k e t w o - t h i r d s more? 

9 A. T y p i c a l l y , we f r a c k w e l l s r i g h t away. Very 

10 r a r e l y do we put on j u s t an ac i d job, unless we're making 

11 a tremendous amount of f l u i d . T y p i c a l l y , we w i l l do an 

12 a c i d j ob, evaluate i t , swab i t , c u t t i n g so much o i l and 

13 water. I ' l l say, "Let's put a fr a c k j o b . " That's the 

14 t y p i c a l process. 

15 Q. Do you have a sa l t w a t e r disposal w e l l nearby 

16 t h a t you --

17 A. We have a --

18 Q. -- dispose of your water? 

19 A. We do, yes, s i r . 

20 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I don't have any 

21 f u r t h e r questions. Thank you. 

22 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I j u s t have a 

23 couple of questions. 

24 

25 
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1 EXAMINATION 

2 BY ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: 

3 Q. About how many analogous w e l l s would you say 

4 are i n the area of t h a t well? 

5 A. About three. 

6 Q. Three? 

7 A. Yes, s i r . 

8 Q. Has there been c a l c u l a t e d current recovery 

9 f a c t o r s f o r the Cockburn Well? 

10 A. No, there has not. 

11 Q. Does i t n e c e s s a r i l y a f f e c t the incremental 

12 accepted by the Fracpro analysis? 

13 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

14 Q. What's the cumulative t o date on the Cockburn 

15 Well? 

16 A. I d i d not look at t h a t before. I know what 

17 the estimated recovery i s , but I don't know the 

18 cumulative t o date. 

19 Q. What i s the UR? 

20 A. I t ' s 90,000 b a r r e l s . 

21 Q. And so t h i s would be adding another 10 percent 

22 or so? 

23 A. Yes, s i r , 10 percent. 

24 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: That's a l l my 

25 questions. Do you have r e d i r e c t ? 
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MR. BRUCE: I ' don't have any r e d i r e c t . 

MR. HALL: I have nothing f u r t h e r of t h i s 
witness. 

4 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: You have one? 

5 MR. HALL: Yes. And I had an i n q u i r y 

6 about the Commission's plans f o r lunch. 

7 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: How long do you 

8 t h i n k your witness w i l l take? 

9 MR. HALL: I t h i n k my d i r e c t w i l l take 

10 probably an hour. I'm never good at these p r e d i c t i o n s . 

11 And there w i l l be cross. 

12 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: We can always take 

13 a break before the cross. I say we should s t a r t the 

14 d i r e c t . 

15 MR. HALL: Okay. May I take a quick break 

16 t o confer w i t h my c l i e n t ? 

17 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Sure. 

18 (A recess was taken.) 

19 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do you have a l l of 

2 0 your e x h i b i t s entered? 

21 MR. BRUCE: I move the admission of 

22 E x h i b i t s 26, 27 and 28, which are Mr. Livingston's 

23 e x h i b i t s . And then E x h i b i t 29 i s simply the a f f i d a v i t I 

24 gave of n o t i c e of the D i v i s i o n hearing. I ask t h a t t h a t 

25 be admitted. 
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ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any objection? 

2 MR. HALL: Let me catch up. Twenty-six? 

3 MR. BRUCE: The AFE. 

4 MR. HALL: So we have the substantive AFE? 

5 MR. BRUCE: Yeah. Twenty-seven and 28 are 

6 the two f r a c k i n g estimates, and then 29 i s my a f f i d a v i t 

7 of n o t i c e from the o r i g i n a l hearing. 

8 MR. HALL: I have no o b j e c t i o n t o those. 

9 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: They are so 

10 admitted. 

11 (Mack E x h i b i t 29 was admitted.) 

12 TOM RAGSDALE 

13 Having been f i r s t d u l y sworn, t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

14 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

15 BY MR. HALL: 

16 Q. For the record, please s t a t e your name. 

17 A. Tom Ragsdale. 

18 Q. Mr. Ragsdale, where do you l i v e , and what do 

19 you do f o r a l i v i n g ? 

20 A. I l i v e i n Midland, and I'm the president of 

21 Siana O i l and Gas Company. 

22 Q. You've not t e s t i f i e d before t h i s Commission 

23 before. Would you give the Commissioners a summary of 

24 your educational background and work experience? 

25 A. I graduated from high school i n Houston. Then 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
OOb02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



1 
Page 91 

I went t o Texas A&M and graduated w i t h a petroleum 

2 engineering degree. I went t o work i n South Louisiana i n 

3 the o i l f i e l d s working on d r i l l i n g r i g s . 

4 By the l a t e '80s, I was working f o r a wholly 

5 owned s u b s i d i a r y IP Petroleum. And then I went t o work 

6 f o r Meridian O i l i n Midland. And we d r i l l e d --we 

7 s t a r t e d our company and d r i l l e d our f i r s t w e l l i n '94, 

8 and we've been ope r a t i n g p r o p e r t i e s ever since t h a t time. 

9 Q. Your company, Siana, i s i t an operator i n both 

10 Texas and New Mexico? 

11 A. Yes, i t i s . 

12 Q. You're f a m i l i a r w i t h the a p p l i c a t i o n t h a t ' s 

13 been f i l e d on behalf of Mack Energy i n t h i s case? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. You're f a m i l i a r w i t h the w e l l t h a t i s the 

16 subject of the a p p l i c a t i o n ? 

17 A. Yes, I am. 

18 MR. HALL: At t h i s p o i n t , Commissioners, I 

19 would o f f e r Mr. Ragsdale as an expert petroleum engineer. 

20 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any objection? 

21 MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n . 

22 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: He's so admitted. 

23 Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) What I ' d l i k e you t o do, i f you 

24 could provide the Commissioners w i t h an overview of the 

25 ownership h i s t o r y of the Cockburn Well and ex p l a i n how 
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1 Siana obtained i t s i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l . You might s t a r t 

2 by l o o k i n g at your e x h i b i t notebook and t u r n i n g t o 

3 E x h i b i t Number 1. I f you would i d e n t i f y t h a t and j u s t 

4 e x p l a i n i t . 

5 A. E x h i b i t 1 i s an Assignment of O i l and Gas 

6 Leases. And i t ' s an assignment from Siana Operating t o 

7 Caza Energy, LLC. 

8 To p r i o r answer your question, I was at t e n d i n g 

9 an auctio n i n '98, and we bought a property. I t was an 

10 HBP property, and we bought the property. 

11 And then i n 2 003, I became, you know, a f r i e n d 

12 of Mack Chase's. He was d r i l l i n g w e l l s i n the area. He 

13 asked me t o see a schematic on a deeper w e l l out there, 

14 which was the w e l l i n question, the Cockburn State Number 

15 5. I took him the schematic. He was d r i l l i n g i n the 

16 area. He d r i l l e d up t o our lease l i n e . Then he came t o 

17 us and said, "We'd l i k e t o make a deal w i t h you. We'd 

18 l i k e t o purchase your lease." 

19 Q. So t h a t l e d t o the assignment which i s E x h i b i t 

2 0 Number 1? 

21 A. Correct. 

22 Q. What's the e f f e c t i v e date o f tha t? 

23 A. E f f e c t i v e the 1st day o f May 2004. 

24 Q. And then l e t ' s look a t E x h i b i t 2. I d e n t i f y 

25 and e x p l a i n t h a t t o us. 
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1 A. That's the assignment of o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y 

2 i n t e r e s t . 

3 Q • I t ' s an asssignment t o you? 

4 A. That's c o r r e c t , from Caza Energy t o myself. 

5 Q. And i s Caza Energy a Mack-owned e n t i t y ? 

6 A. I b e l i e v e i t i s . 

7 Q. Let's look at the next, E x h i b i t 3. I d e n t i f y 

8 t h a t and t e l l us what i t i s . 

9 A. That's the Assignment of O i l and Gas Leases 

10 between Caza and the various other p a r t i e s . 

11 Q. So d i d i t work t h a t you assigned 100 percent 

12 of your ownership t o Caza, and they, i n t u r n , reassigned 

13 back t o you the working i n t e r e s t we see i n the override? 

14 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

15 Q. And t e l l us, f o r the record, what your current 

16 working i n t e r e s t ownership percentage i s . 

17 A. My working i n t e r e s t i s a 16th or a 6.25 

18 percent. 

19 Q. And your o v e r r i d e i s r e f l e c t e d on the p r i o r 

20 E x h i b i t 2; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

21 A. I b elieve i t was. 

22 Q. Let's t a l k about t h i s w e l l . T e l l us about 

23 your knowledge of the h i s t o r y of the w e l l . Who f i r s t 

24 d r i l l e d and operated the well? 

25 A. My r e c o l l e c t i o n i s American Quasar d r i l l e d i t 
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1 i n 1976. I t was a deeper t e s t , a Morrow/Strawn/Atoka. 

2 They set the surface. They d r i l l e d i t t o i t s o b j e c t i v e , 

3 and i t was deemed noncommercial, so they plugged the 

4 w e l l . 

5 Q. Was the leasehold the w e l l was located on 

6 owned by Oxy; do you r e c a l l ? 

7 A. When we bought i t i n 1998, yes, i t was 

8 leasehold acreage. And we purchased i t from Oxy, yes, • 

9 s i r . 

10 Q. Let me ask you, are you aware of the O i l 

11 Conservation D i v i s i o n ' s requirement t h a t i n t e r e s t s i n a 

12 spacing u n i t be consolidated? 

13 A. Yes, s i r . 

14 Q. And when you acquired the lease, you acquired 

15 100 percent of the ownership; i s t h a t correct? 

16 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

17 Q. Let's look at E x h i b i t Number 4. I s t h a t a 

18 C-102 Form f o r the Cockburn Well? 

19 A. I bel i e v e i t i s . My copy i s faded. I 

20 can't -- but I b e l i e v e i t ' s a C-102. 

21 Q. I t ' s an acreage d e d i c a t i o n p l a t ? 

22 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

23 Q. And t h i s p a r t i c u l a r form shows Mack Energy as 

24 the operator; correct? 

25 . A. Yes, s i r . 
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And the form c a l l s f o r i n f o r m a t i o n w i t h 

2 respect t o c o n s o l i d a t i o n of i n t e r e s t of Line Item 3? 

3 A. Yes, i t does. 

4 Q- I s t h a t completed? 

5 A. No, s i r , i t ' s not completed. 

6 Q. Cu r r e n t l y i s there any w r i t t e n agreement 

7 f o r m a l l y d e d i c a t i n g your i n t e r e s t , your working i n t e r e s t 

8 t o the well? 

9 A. No, s i r . 

10 Q. Before t h i s compulsory p o o l i n g proceeding was 

11 commenced and since the time Caza and Mack acquired the 

12 r i g h t s t o the w e l l and t h e i r i n t e r e s t s , has Mack Energy 

13 made any e f f o r t t o t r y t o consolidate the i n t e r e s t s of 

14 the well? 

15 A. No, s i r . 

16 Q. What co n s i d e r a t i o n d i d you receive or d i d your 

17 company receive when you made the assignment t o Caza? 

18 How d i d t h a t --

19 A. Monetary? 

20 Q. Yes. How d i d t h a t deal work? 

21 A. Mack said, "We'll give you 75-, $100,000. And 

22 I said, " We'll take the $100,000." So they p a i d us 

23 $100,000 f o r the lease, and then we r e t a i n e d a small 

24 ov e r r i d e . 

25 Q. So he gave you a choice between 75,000 and 
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2 A. No, s i r . I t was i n a conversation. He was 

3 j u s t throwing numbers down. 

4 Q. But you selected the higher number? 

5 A. Yes, s i r . 

6 Q. Explain how the 2 0 04 r e - e n t r y was handled. 

7 How d i d t h a t arrangement work? 

8 A. He and I j u s t had our own conversations. And 

9 I said, "Just keep my monies." And then I t h i n k I was 

10 submitted an AFE. And so my costs were j u s t n e t t e d 

11 against the balance they owed me from the o r i g i n a l sale. 

12 Q. So you never received cash consideration? 

13 A. No, s i r . Correct. Not cash, c o r r e c t . 

14 Q. You received a c r e d i t ? 

15 A. Correct. 

16 Q. And the lease o v e r r i d i n g expenses were b i l l e d 

17 against t h a t c r e d i t ? 

18 A. Yes, s i r , f o r a time. That's my r e c o l l e c t i o n . 

19 Q. You've heard p r i o r testimony, and t h i s i s no 

20 secret, but can you e x p l a i n why you've not paid a l l your 

21 share of expenses since your c r e d i t was depleted? 

22 A. Two years ago, we were i n s t r u c t e d by counsel 

23 not t o pay those b i l l i n g s . The primary reason t h a t I 

24 r e c a l l t h a t we were i n s t r u c t e d t h a t was because there was 

25 no basis f o r the overhead rates being charged because 
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there was no JOA i n place. 

2 Q. There was no formal operating agreement i n 

3 place? 

4 A. Yes, s i r , there was none. 

5 Q. There was no a u t h o r i z a t i o n f o r the operator t o 

6 recover costs? ' 

7 A. There was no basis f o r ra t e s , t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

8 Q. Let's look at what we've i d e n t i f i e d as E x h i b i t 

9 5. Can you e x p l a i n that? What i s that? 

10 A. I t appears t o be a revenue dec t h a t shows my 

11 i n t e r e s t i n each of the w e l l s and my i n t e r e s t being a 

12 working i n t e r e s t and my i n t e r e s t as an o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y 

13 i n t e r e s t • 

14 Q. I s t h i s a summary of revenues a t t r i b u t a b l e t o 

15 your i n t e r e s t s i n both of those w e l l s t h a t was provided 

16 t o us by Mack Energy? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And does E x h i b i t 5 also r e f l e c t revenues 

19 a t t r i b u t a b l e t o both your working i n t e r e s t and override? 

20 A. Yes, s i r . 

21 Q. And are these the amounts t h a t have been 

22 w i t h h e l d from you? 

23 A. Yes, s i r . 

24 Q. And i f you look at the second page, what i s 

25 the t o t a l shown there? 
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A. The t o t a l on the second page, $61,722.93. 

2 Q. Does Mack Energy c u r r e n t l y have any l e g a l 

3 agreement here a u t h o r i z i n g them t o w i t h h o l d your 

4 revenues? 

5 A. No, s i r . 

6 Q. Have you authorized Mack Energy t o net your 

7 share of expenses from these revenues? 

8 A. No, s i r . 

9 Q. I asked you --we had some questions e a r l i e r 

10 of Mack's witnesses about the o i l revenues. Have you 

11 p r e v i o u s l y requested i n f o r m a t i o n from Mack w i t h respect 

12 t o the d i s p o s i t i o n of o i l p roduction from the well? 

13 A. Yes. On numerous times, we asked them f o r 

14 crude o i l c o n t r a c t s . 

15 Q. Were they ever d e l i v e r e d t o you? 

16 A. No, s i r . 

17 Q. Did you ever make an e f f o r t t o set up d i r e c t 

18 payments from the purchaser of crude o i l t o you? 

19 A. Yes. We were t o l d by Navajo i t had t o go 

20 through the operator, Mack Energy. And we t r i e d t h a t , 

21 and we were turned away by them. 

22 Q. Let's look at E x h i b i t Number 6. We've seen 

23 t h i s before. But i f you would i d e n t i f y i t ? 

24 A. I t ' s the AFE. j 

25 Q. I s t h i s the t r a n s m i t t a l l e t t e r f o r the AFE 
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1 dated August 30, .2011? 

2 A. Yes, s i r . 

3 Q. And what date i s t h i s shown as having been 

4 received by you? 

5 A. September the 6th. 

6 Q. When you received the AFE on t h a t date, was 

7 t h a t the f i r s t time a f r a c k job f o r t h i s w e l l had ever 

8 been mentioned t o you? 

9 A. Yes, s i r , i t was. 

10 Q. Was the AFE accompanied by any s o r t of 

11 t e c h n i c a l data? 

12 A. No, s i r . 

13 Q. Did you understand -- l e t ' s look at the 

14 t r a n s m i t t a l f o r t h a t . I f you look at the l a s t paragraph, 

15 i t i n d i c a t e s , " I f you wish t o j o i n , execute and r e t u r n . " 

16 What do you do i f you wish t o go nonconsent? 

17 A. I do not know. 

18 Q. A f t e r you received t h i s AFE i n September, what 

19 was the next form of communication you received from Mack 

20 Energy? Let's look at E x h i b i t 6. I'm sorry, l e t ' s look 

21 at E x h i b i t 7. 

22 A. I be l i e v e i t was n o t i c e of the force pool 

23 hearing. 

24 Q. Now, l e t ' s t u r n t o E x h i b i t Number 8. Do you 

25 recognize tha t? 
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1 A. Yes, s i r . 

2 Q. What i s that? 

3 A. A proposed JOA. 

4 Q. And what's the date of the t r a n s m i t t a l l e t t e r 

5 f o r that? 

6 A. The date i s December 7th, 2011. 

7 Q. Before t h i s time, had Mack Energy ever 

8 proposed a form o p e r a t i n g agreement f o r you t o execute? 

9 A. No, s i r . 

10 Q. And d i d Mack send t h i s form of JOA t o you i n 

11 December only a f t e r your Texas counsel asked them to? 

12 A. Yes t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

13 Q. Why haven't you executed t h i s o perating 

14 agreement? 

15 A. Due t o advice of counsel and due t o the 

16 suspense of our funds, our revenues. 

17 Q. Have you determined whether you would be 

18 waiving any r i g h t s t h a t you might have i f you d i d execute 

19 the JOA? 

20 A. Yes. We bel i e v e we would be waiving r i g h t s . 

21 Q. You have extensive f a m i l i a r i t y and experience 

22 w i t h form j o i n t o p e r ating agreements; i s t h a t correct? 

23 A. Yes, s i r . 

24 Q. You know how they work? 

25 A. Yes, s i r . 
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Let's look at some of the terms of t h i s 

2 p a r t i c u l a r JOA. I f you look at the JOA i t s e l f and go t o 

3 A r t i c l e V.4 on page 5, do you see t h a t paragraph? 

4 A. Custody of funds? 

5 Q. Yes. How does t h a t work? 

6 A. The operator can hold your funds f o r various 

7 reasons, can hold the funds of a nonoperator or a working 

8 i n t e r e s t p a r t n e r . 

9 Q. Let's t u r n t o A r t i c l e V I I B. Let's i d e n t i f y 

10 on page 11, what i s A r t i c l e V I I ? What's the heading? 

11 I t ' s on page 11. 

12 A. I'm not q u i t e w i t h you. 

13 Q- Look at page 11. 

14 A. Okay. 

15 Q. And what i s the heading f o r A r t i c l e VII? 

16 A. Oh, "Expenditure and L i a b i l i t y of P a r t i e s . " 

17 Q. And l e t ' s t u r n the page and look at A r t i c l e 

18 V I I B. What i s the heading f o r t h a t provision? 

19 A. "Liens and S e c u r i t y I n t e r e s t s . " 

20 Q. Based on your f a m i l i a r i t y w i t h operating 

21 agreements, by executing t h i s JOA would you be g i v i n g the 

22 operator a l i e n on your i n t e r e s t ? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And would t h a t operate r e t r o a c t i v e l y ? 

25 A. Yes. 
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And would t h a t have the e f f e c t of waiving your 

2 r i g h t s ? 

3 A. Yes, s i r , i t would. 

4 Q • And because you had a disagreement w i t h the 

5 operator, would t h a t adversely a f f e c t your r i g h t s ? 

6 A. Yes, s i r . 

7 Q. Does t h a t e x p l a i n why you d i d not execute t h i s 

8 JOA? 

9 A. That's the primary reason, yes, s i r . 

10 Q. Have you since o f f e r e d t o execute an operating 

11 agreement w i t h the operator? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And under what terms and conditions? 

14 A. One of the terms i s t h a t they'd release our 

15 funds. Another term, t h a t i t would be e f f e c t i v e October 

16 1st. I t wouldn't be r e t r o a c t i v e t o t h i s 2004 or so. And 

17 there were various others. I don't r e c a l l them offhand. 

18 Q- Did you wish t o preserve your r i g h t t o audits 

19 and adjustments f o r p r i o r periods? 

20 A. Yes, we d i d . 

21 Q. And today -- can you t e l l the Commission 

22 today, do you s t i l l have a signed operating agreement 

23 w i t h the operator? 

24 A. I'm sorry. We s t i l l do not was the question? 

25 Q. Do you or not? 
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1 A. We do not have a signed operating agreement. 

2 Q. Based on your experience i n the i n d u s t r y , has 

3 Mack Energy made a g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t t o ob t a i n your 

4 v o l u n t a r y j o i n d e r and p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n the well? 

5 A. No, s i r . 

6 Q. Has Mack Energy made a d i l i g e n t e f f o r t t o 

7 consolidate the i n t e r e s t s i n t h i s well? 

8 A. No, s i r . 

9 Q. Are you asking the Commission t o deny Mack 

10 Energy's a p p l i c a t i o n f o r compulsory p o o l i n g f o r these 

11 reasons? 

12 A. Yes, s i r . 

13 Q. Any other explanation why? 

14 A. I t ' s a combination of the suspense of funds. 

15 I t ' s t h i s proposed f r a c k job without having a JOA or 

16 without having any e l e c t i o n -- nonconsent p r o v i s i o n s , and 

17 i t ' s advice of counsel. I t ' s various t h i n g s . 

18 Q. Are you asking the Commission t o order the 

19 operator t o account and pay you f o r past production as i f 

20 the i n t e r e s t i n the w e l l had not been consolidated or 

21 force pooled? 

22 A. I'm sorry? 

23 Q. Are you asking f o r the Commission t o order 

24 Mack t o account and pay you without a deduction f o r 

25 monthly lease operating expenses and overhead charges 
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c o n s o l i d a t i o n of the i n t e r e s t ? 

2 A. Yes, we are. 

3 Q. Let's t a l k about the f r a c k job i t s e l f . I n 

4 your o p i n i o n , has Mack Energy provided you w i t h enough 

5 i n f o r m a t i o n t o evaluate the need f o r the procedure and t o 

6 j u s t i f y the procedure and e x p l a i n your terms f o r 

7 p a r t i c i p a t i o n ? 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. And why i s t h a t your opinion? 

10 A. We j u s t -- there's no p r o v i s i o n at t h i s time 

11 f o r a nonconsent. What are the penalties? And what 

12 happens i f you decide you -- i f the r i s k s are too great 

13 and you do not want t o p a r t i c i p a t e ? There's no p r o v i s i o n 

14 i n place. 

15 Q. Talk about Mack Energy's request t o recover a 

16 cost plus 200 percent r i s k penalty. I s t h a t j u s t i f i e d ? 

17 A. Now, t h a t ' s a d i f f i c u l t question. That can be 

18 debated. So i t could be j u s t i f i e d on one hand, and i t 

19 could not on the other hand. 

20 Q. I s i t i n t h i s case? 

21 A. I don't t h i n k i t i s i n t h i s case. 

22 Q. And why not? 

23 A. The w e l l i s already producing, and i t ' s --

24 t h a t ' s a -- t h a t penalty, the cost plus 200 percent, I 

25 t h i n k , i s j u s t a -- i t ' s a high penalty i n t h i s case, I 
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2 Q. Are the r i s k s d i f f e r e n t f o r t h i s proposal than 

3 the r i s k s attendant w i t h a new d r i l l ? 

4 A. Somewhat d i f f e r e n t , yes. 

5 Q. Mechanical r i s k s are d i f f e r e n t ? 

6 A. Mechanical r i s k s , yes, they're a l i t t l e b i t 

7 d i f f e r e n t than a new d r i l l . 

8 Q. I s there any geologic r i s k here? 

9 A. Yes, there i s . 

10 Q. But we know t h a t the geology i s there. We 

11 know the r e s e r v o i r i s th e r e ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

12 A. Correct. I t ' s a producing -- i t ' s a good 

13 producing r e s e r v o i r r i g h t now. 

14 Q. Do you have experience i n operating other Abo 

15 formation wells? 

16 A. Yes, we do. 

17 Q. Let's look at E x h i b i t Number 9, and t e l l us 

18 what t h i s i s . 

19 A. I t ' s a production data sheet. 

20 Q. How cur r e n t i s t h i s p roduction data? 

21 A. I t goes through March of t h i s year. 

22 Q. What's the source of t h i s data? 

23 A. I b e l i e v e i t ' s a system c a l l Go-Tech. 

24 MR. HALL: And i f I may approach the 

25 witness? I'm out of order a l i t t l e b i t on e x h i b i t s . 
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1 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: You may approach. 

2 Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) Let's look at E x h i b i t 13. Can 

3 you i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r us? 

4 A. I t ' s another source of production data from 

5 D r i l l i n g I n f o . 

6 Q. I s i t current? 

7 A. I t h i n k i t ' s current through May or June of 

8 t h i s year. 

9 Q. And i f you look at E x h i b i t s 9 and 13, what 

10 does t h i s t e l l us about the w e l l ' s current a b i l i t y t o 

11 produce? 

12 A. I t ' s a very low d e c l i n i n g w e l l . I t ' s got a 

13 long l i f e t o i t . 

14 Q. I s t h a t desirable? 

15 A. I t ' s very d e s i r a b l e i n our business. 

16 Q. E x h i b i t 13, does t h a t show the cums f o r gas 

17 and o i l ? 

18 A. Yes, i t does. 

19 Q. What do these data t e l l us about l i k e l y 

20 p r o j e c t e d decline i n EUR f o r the well? 

21 A. The dec l i n e i s r e l a t i v e l y f l a t , so I c a l l i t a 

22 minimum de c l i n e . I mean the w e l l was p o t e n t i a l e d at 3 9 

23 b a r r e l s a day. And here we are, e i g h t years l a t e r 

24 making, 20, 22 b a r r e l s a day. So t h a t ' s a very, very 

25 m i l d d e c l i n e . And I ' d say today i t looks l i k e i t ' s on a 
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probably 4 percent" d e c l i n e , 2 percent t o 6 percent. I t ' s 

2 e s s e n t i a l l y a f l a t w e l l . 

3 As f a r as the EUR, I don't have t h a t 

4 p r o j e c t i o n i n f r o n t of me. But t h a t would j u s t be an 

5 engineer l o o k i n g at the curve and running the economic 

6 l i f e of i t . 

7 Q. Let's e x p l a i n the d i f f e r e n c e between the pages 

8 on E x h i b i t 13. The second page, i s t h a t a l o g a r i t h m i c 

9 scale? 

10 A. Yes, i t i s . 

11 Q. And the f i r s t page i s l i n e a r ? 

12 A. Yes, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

13 Q. I n your opinion, i s the w e l l c u r r e n t l y 

14 producing at an e f f i c i e n t and economic r a t e of 

15 production? 

16 A. Yes, s i r . 

17 Q. And w i l l i t continue t o do so? 

18 A. By a l l p r e d i c t i o n and by t h i s current curve, 

19 i t s u r e l y w i l l . 

20 Q. You don't want t o d i s t u r b t h i s curve, do you? 

21 A. No, s i r . 

22 Q. I n your op i n i o n , i s the f r a c k job t h a t ' s been 

23 proposed speculative? 

24 A. Yes, i t i s . 

25 Q. And i s i t necessary t o preserve the w e l l or 
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1 the lease? 

2 A. No, i t ' s not. 

3 Q. To your knowledge, i s there any t h r e a t of 

4 lease t e r m i n a t i o n due t o cessation of production? 

5 A. Not t o my knowledge. 

6 Q. And can the w e l l e f f i c i e n t l y and economically 

7 recover a l l the reserves, a l l recoverable reserves, 

8 through the cur r e n t completion? 

9 A. Over time, I would say so. The w e l l a c t u a l l y 

10 d i d n ' t have the l a r g e s t a c i d job on i t , but i t would 

11 probably need another -- some type of s t i m u l a t i o n job, an 

12 a c i d j o b i n the f u t u r e , t o recover i t s f u l l p o t e n t i a l of 

13 reserves. 

14 Q. I s the performance of a f r a c t u r e recompletion 

15 p r e f e r a b l e t o an ac i d s t i m u l a t i o n f o r t h i s well? 

16 A. The performance? I would say no i n t h i s case, 

17 due t o the r e s e r v o i r . 

18 Q. What are the r i s k s t h a t the f r a c t u r e I 
' \ 

i 
19 completion poses t o the well? | 

1 
20 A. I t poses numerous r i s k s . There's mechanical j 
21 r i s k s . And you can fr a c k out of zone, you can fra c k | 

l 

22 upwards, you can fr a c k downwards, you can fra c k i n the I 
I 
I 

23 water. And the Abo i s a reef , and i t does contain water. j 

24 And the a c i d jobs have been successful i n the I 
i 

1 
25 past, and I don't know of any Abo w e l l s i n t h i s area t h a t j 

j 
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1 have ever been tracked. So I look at i t as kind of a 

2 t r i a l w e l l , s o r t of a guinea p i g . 

3 Q. Did you have your engineering s t a f f evaluate 

4 the proposed f r a c t u r e recompletion? 

5 A. Yes, s i r . 

6 Q. And what was your s t a f f ' s advice? 

7 A. They wouldn't do i t . 

8 Q. Who d i d you t a l k to? 

9 A. Matt Dauffer. 

10 Q. What d i d he look a t , s p e c i f i c a l l y ? What were 

11 h i s problems w i t h i t ? 

12 MR. BRUCE: I would o b j e c t . This i s 

13 hearsay. You're asking the opinio n of a t h i r d p a r t y . 

14 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I believe 

15 Mr. Dauffer i s going t o be a witness l a t e r on. 

16 MR. HALL: Let me e x p l a i n t h a t we had 

17 Mr. L i v i n g s t o n t e s t i f y about Mr. Dauffer's testimony. I t 

18 was hearsay, and without o b j e c t i o n . And they've opened 

19 the door t o t h i s l i n e of questioning. 

2 0 MR. BRUCE: That i s an admission by a 

21 p a r t y , an opponent, and t h a t i s admissible under the 

22 hearsay r u l e . This i s asking a t h i r d p a r t y t h a t we don't 

23 have the chance t o cross-examine the opinio n t h a t --

24 Mr. Ragsdale i s going t o give Mr. Dauffer's opinion, h i s 

2 5 engineer's o p i n i o n . And I don't have a chance t o 
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cross-examine him, and i t ' s hearsay. 

2 MR. HALL: We don't f o l l o w the r u l e s of 

3 evidence here. The only guidance f o r the Commission i s 

4 t h a t i t must f i n d t h a t the testimony i s competent. 

5 That's a l l the r u l e s say. So we can ask him what 

6 Mr. Dauffer said, weather he agrees w i t h the 

7 recommendations of h i s own s t a f f . He can t e l l us why or 

8 why not. 

9 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: You may answer the 

10 question. Answer the question t o the best of your 

11 a b i l i t y . 

12 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry? 

13 Q. (By Mr. H a l l ) What was Mr. Dauffer's 

14 recommendat ion? 

15 A. I f he were i n the w e l l , when I asked him, he 

16 would not p a r t i c i p a t e . He d i d not agree w i t h the f r a c k 

17 j ob. 

18 Q. Why not? 

19 A. He looked at the logs and said there was 

20 minimum b a r r i e r s above the w e l l , the zone of i n t e r e s t , 

21 and there were l i t t l e t o no b a r r i e r s below. So he looked 

22 c l o s e l y at the IP. The w e l l IP'd at 3 9 b a r r e l s a day and 

23 3 00 b a r r e l s of water a day. And today we've got about a 

24 50 percent c u t . I t ' s making 22 o i l and 18, 22 water. 

25 And he was j u s t f e a r f u l of water. And he 
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1 said, "Below us, w i t h l i t t l e or no b a r r i e r s , i t could 

2 f r a c k as much as 250 f e e t out of zone." 

3 Q. Let me have you t u r n t o Mack's E x h i b i t 25. 

4 You were present today when the sponsor of t h i s e x h i b i t , 

5 Mr. McCoy, t e s t i f i e d ? 

6 A. Yes, s i r . 

7 Q. Do you agree w i t h h i s p r e d i c t i o n f o r the 

8 f r a c t u r e performance? 

9 A. No, s i r . 

10 Q. Why not? 

11 A. I t ' s a 270-foot gross i n t e r v a l zone. I 

12 b e l i e v e there's 82 holes i n i t . He d i d t e s t i f y , when 

13 asked where would the f r a c k go, i t ' s going t o go the path 

14 of l e a s t r e s i s t a n c e . 

15 As f a r as your d i r e c t question, t h i s model, 

16 i t ' s j u s t a computer model t h a t somebody was paid t o plug 

17 the data i n and i t turns out a model. That's why -- I've 

18 been involved i n numerous f r a c k jobs. Most of those guys 

19 w i l l a c t u a l l y t e l l t h a t you the data i s j u s t a computer 

2 0 program model. 

21 Q. Consulting companies l i k e t h a t do not 

22 guarantee t h e i r r e s u l t s , do they? 

23 A. No, s i r , they do not. 

24 Q. Do you agree w i t h Mr. McCoy's assessment t h a t 

25 we ought t o have 50 percent conf idence i n h i s p r e d i c t i o n ? 
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1 A. That's a d i f f i c u l t question. 25 percent 

2 confidence, 50, 77? I t h i n k he was j u s t making t h a t 

3 comment. Do I agree w i t h the 50 percent? That's j u s t a 

4 b a l l p a r k number. 

5 So I t h i n k he came up w i t h h i s number offhand 

6 when asked. And I don't agree w i t h the 50 percent 

7 being -- I would be much more confident i n the numbers i f 

8 there were some o f f s e t models, i f there were some before 

9 and a f t e r r e s u l t s i n t h i s area. And t h a t ' s the one t h i n g 

10 we have not seen. 

11 Q. Did your s t a f f look at analogs i n the area? 

12 A. They d i d . Mr. Dauffer --we looked at i t . 

13 A l l the o f f s e t w e l l s have been t r e a t e d w i t h 8,000 t o 

14 12,000 gall o n s of acid. One of the we l l s had been 

15 t r e a t e d w i t h 15,000 gall o n s of ac i d . This p a r t i c u l a r 

16 w e l l was t r e a t e d w i t h 5,000 ga l l o n s of acid. He d i d n ' t 

17 see any w e l l s i n the area or i n the f i e l d t h a t have been 

18 f r a c t u r e t r e a t e d . 

19 Q. So i t ' s not a common p r a c t i c e of operators i n 

20 t h i s v i c i n i t y t o f r a c t u r e s t i m u l a t e Abo --

21 A. I would c a l l i t h i g h l y uncommon. 

22 Q. I n your opinion, are you being asked t o bear 

23 unnecessary r i s k s ? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. Let me ask you about c e r t a i n of the e x h i b i t s . 
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With the exception of E x h i b i t Number 5, which was 

2 subpoenaed i n f o r m a t i o n provided by Mack Energy, were the 

3 remainder of E x h i b i t s 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 13 

4 produced from your company's records or from p u b l i c l y 

5 a v a i l a b l e sources? 

6 A. I'm sorry, the numbers again? 

7 Q. One, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 13. Did a l l of 

8 those come from company records or from p u b l i c sources 

9 such as Go-Tech? 

10 A. Company records. 

11 Q. And p u b l i c sources, as well? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 MR. HALL: I move the admission of those 

14 e x h i b i t s , and I also move admission of E x h i b i t 5, which 

15 was produced t o us by Mack Energy. That concludes my 

16 d i r e c t examination of Mr. Ragsdale. 

17 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Any objection? 

18 MR. BRUCE: No o b j e c t i o n . 

19 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Those e x h i b i t s are 

20 accepted. 

21 How long f o r your cross-examination, 

22 Mr. Bruce? 

23 (Siana E x h i b i t s 1 through 9 and E x h i b i t 13 were admitted) 

24 MR. BRUCE: I would guess less than a h a l f 

25 hour. More l i k e 20 minutes. I don't know i f you want me 
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1 t o do t h a t now or a f t e r lunch. 

2 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I have no 

3 preference. I f you t h i n k you can be done q u i c k l y , we can 

4 move the hearing along. 

5 MR. BRUCE: I would p r e f e r t h a t myself. 

6 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: A l l r i g h t . 

7 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

8 BY MR. BRUCE: 

9 Q. One t h i n g , the E x h i b i t 5 t h a t was produced 

10 pursuant t o a subpoena, you were aware t h a t Mr. H a l l had 

11 obtained a subpoena on your behalf; were you not? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. And d i d you -- without t e l l i n g about contacts 

14 between you and Mr. H a l l , d i d you review t h a t subpoena t o 

15 make sure t h a t he was asking f o r a l l p e r t i n e n t data? 

16 A. I b e l i e v e I glanced over i t . 

17 Q. And other than E x h i b i t 5, none of t h a t data 

18 t h a t was produced as a r e s u l t of the subpoena i s i n your 

19 e x h i b i t booklet; r i g h t ? 

20 A. I can't say yes or no, honestly, u n t i l I look 

21 at what was produced and see what's i n here. 

22 Q. You j u s t s t a t e d t h a t a l l of these documents, 

23 other than E x h i b i t 5, came from your records; d i d you 

24 not? 

25 A. I d i d . 
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1 Q. When you acquired i t , was i t your opinion --

2 and I t h i n k everybody agrees -- t h a t Oxy was a 100 

3 percent owner, and Siana acquired 100 percent of the 

4 working i n t e r e s t i n t h i s t r a c t ? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. You acquired i t -- Siana acquired i t . What i s 

7 your p o s i t i o n w i t h Siana? 

8 A. I'm the p r e s i d e n t . 

9 Q. You acquired i t i n 1998. Why d i d n ' t you f i l e 

10 a Change of Operator form w i t h the D i v i s i o n i n '98? 

11 A. I t was an HBP lease. We were not conducting 

12 any operations. There was no need t o . 

13 Q. You don't t h i n k there's any D i v i s i o n 

14 requirement t o put y o u r s e l f as operator of a w e l l t h a t 

15 you own? 

16 A. I don't r e c a l l what took place back then. 

17 That was back i n 1998. 

18 Q. Now -- and I don't remember the exact f i g u r e s , 

19 and you can c o r r e c t me. But when the w e l l was 

2 0 recompleted i n 2 004, you had about -- I f o r g e t what you 

21 s a i d -- 25,000 or $33,000 i n the p r o j e c t ? 

22 A. Correct. 

23 Q. And has t h a t amount pa i d out? 

24 A. Yes. 

25 Q. Has i t p a i d out a number of times? 
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Yes. I ' d say i t was spent. That money was 

2 spent. I t h i n k there were three w e l l r e - e n t r i e s 

3 conducted, i s my r e c o l l e c t i o n . So t h a t money was spent. 

4 Q. And you don't dispute -- I f o r g e t what e x h i b i t 

5 number i t was t h a t Ms. Sanders presented -- t h a t as of 

6 l a s t year, on these couple of w e l l s , you received 

7 $350,000 or so? 

8 A. I don't r e c a l l t h a t p a r t i c u l a r one t h a t s a i d 

9 350 or i f i t ' s i n t h i s e x h i b i t s . I don't r e c a l l . 

10 Q. I t ' s not i n your e x h i b i t s . 

11 MR. BRUCE: I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman. I 

12 gave my copy t o the court r e p o r t e r . 

13 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) I ' l l hand you what was marked 

14 Mack E x h i b i t 19, which i s payments made t o you on two 

15 w e l l s . Do you have any -- do you disagree t h a t you were 

16 pai d those amounts? 

17 A. I don't have any reason t o disagree, but --

18 Q. That's f i n e . Thank you. 

19 Now, w i t h respect t o the w e l l proposal t h a t 

20 was sent i n August, you received i t i n September 2011? 

21 A. I be l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

22 Q. Siana i s an ope r a t i n g company; correct? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q- And I t h i n k you sa i d t h a t you have been 

25 invo l v e d i n many f r a c k jobs? 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



1 
Page 117 

A. Yes. 

2 Q. So you knew what type of questions t o ask Mack 

3 or, i n p a r t i c u l a r , Mr. L i v i n g s t o n , about the proposed 

4 f r a c k j o b . Did you ever c a l l him and ask? 

5 

6 

A. I d i d not. Mr. Dauffer d i d . 

Q. And d i d you l i s t e n t o Mr. Livingston's 

7 testimony? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. And d i d you hear him say t h a t Mr. Dauffer 

10 never asked anything about the procedure or the AFE, j u s t 

11 a few marginal questions? 

12 A. I don't remember h i s exact response. 

13 Q. But you could have picked up the phone and 

14 asked him? 

15 A. Sure. 

16 Q. You never did? 

17 A. No. 

18 Q. So Mack never refused t o give you any w e l l 

19 data? 

20 A. No. 

21 Q. What more were they supposed t o do, other than 

22 send you the w e l l proposal and f o l l o w up and t r y t o get 

• 23 you t o sign the AFE? 

24 A. We were much more concerned w i t h the e l e c t i o n , 

25 the nonconsent p o r t i o n of i t . 
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1 Q. Let's get i n t o t h a t . Let's assume t h a t Mack 

2 Energy wanted t o d r i l l an o f f s e t w e l l on t h i s 40 acres, a 

3 new w e l l . Let's ignore t h i s case f o r a moment. 

4 The f i r s t t h i n g they would do would be t o send 

5 you a w e l l proposal w i t h an AFE, c o r r e c t , f o r a new well? 

6 A. I suspect so. 

7 Q. And w i t h no JOA i n place, what would you do? 

8 There's no nonconsent p r o v i s i o n , r i g h t , without a JOA? 

9 Assume t h i s was a new lease, a new w e l l . What are you 

10 supposed t o do? 

11 A. With my revenues i n suspense, I wouldn't do 

12 anything. 

13 Q. Let's say -- f o r g e t revenues i n suspense. 

14 Let's say t h i s was a new 40-acre lease. Mack wanted t o 

15 d r i l l a new Abo w e l l . They send you a w e l l proposal, no 

16 JOA i n place. There i s no nonconsent e l e c t i o n under 

17 t h a t , c o r r e c t , under your reasoning? 

18 A. Without a JOA, there's nothing i n place. 

19 Q. And i f you wouldn't sign a JOA, they have a 

2 0 r i g h t t o go force pool you; correct? 

21 MR. HALL: I obje c t t o t h a t . I t c a l l s f o r 

22 a l e g a l conclusion. 

23 MR. BRUCE: I would ask t h a t he be 

24 r e q u i r e d t o answer i t , j u s t l i k e Ms. Sanders had t o do, 

25 because he has said there's no way t o consider a 
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1 nonconsent f o r t h i s w e l l . I t ' s the same type of deal f o r 

2 a new w e l l w ithout a JOA. 

3 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do you have an 

4 opinion? 

5 MR. BRANCARD: We're g e t t i n g i n t o 

6 h y p o t h e t i c a l questions here. : Try t o focus on t h i s case. 

7 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) But they could c e r t a i n l y do 

8 t h a t , even today, ignore what you view as the suspense 

9 and everything else? They could propose a new w e l l today 

10 t o you, and there would not be a nonconsent p r o v i s i o n f o r 

11 you on the AFE? 

12 A. You're asking me? 

13 Q. I'm asking you. 

14 A. I don't know the answer. 

15 Q. Now, w i t h respect t o the proposed JOA, you 

16 have never commented on t h a t , have you? 

17 A. On the proposed JOA? 

18 Q. On the proposed JOA. 

19 A. The attorneys have. Not me, no, s i r . 

2 0 Q. They have never sent anything t o Mack, have 

21 they? 

22 A. I b e l i e v e they d i d a couple o f days ago. 

23 Q. They have never asked f o r any m o d i f i c a t i o n s i n 

24 the JOA, have they? 

25 A. L ike I say, I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s what the l e t t e r 
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1 they sent -- t h a t Mr. H a l l sent a couple of days ago. 

2 Q. Did Mr. H a l l prepare t h a t l e t t e r ? 

3 MR. HALL: You know, t h a t -- o b j e c t i o n , 

4 p r i v i l e g e . 

5 MR. BRUCE: I'm not asking -- I'm j u s t 

6 asking i f Mr. H a l l prepared t h a t l e t t e r . 

7 MR. HALL: I can't allow a waiver of 

8 p r i v i l e g e . I can't do t h a t . 

9 MR. BRANCARD: I don't know the relevance 

10 of i t , e i t h e r , f o r t h a t matter. 

11 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) But i f you look at your 

12 e x h i b i t booklet, E x h i b i t 8, and go t o page 17A of the 

13 JOA, A r t i c l e XVI, A r t i c l e XVI i s -- w i t h a basic JOA --

14 you've reviewed o p e r a t i n g agreements before, haven't you? 

15 A. A long time ago. 

16 Q. A r t i c l e XVI allows other p r o v i s i o n s . These 

17 are p r o v i s i o n s t h a t the p a r t i e s want i n an agreement t h a t 

18 aren't p a r t of the b o i l e r p l a t e ; i s i t not? 

19 A. Yes, i t i s . 

2 0 Q. And couldn't you have requested p r o v i s i o n s i n 

21 there regarding the suspended funds? 

22 A. To answer your question, I suspect you could. 

23 Q. So t h a t there would be no waiver of r i g h t s , as 

24 f a r as you see? 

25 A. Again, I'm going t o say I'm not a land expert 
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or a JOA expert any longer.. But I suspect you could. 

2 You could request t h a t . You can probably request 

3 whatever you want t o request. 

4 Q. Because a JOA i s a v o l u n t a r y agreement? 

5 A. That's c o r r e c t . 

6 Q. Subject t o neg o t i a t i o n ? 

7 

8 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. Can you show me anywhere i n w r i t i n g where, 

9 since 2004, you ever requested a JOA from Mack Energy? 

10 A. Can I show you i n w r i t i n g ? No, s i r , I cannot. 

11 Q. Under t h i s JOA, there's a requested penalty of 

12 300 percent. I s t h a t a normal penalty under a JOA? 

13 A. Yes, s i r . 

14 MR. BRUCE: Just a few more, Mr. Chairman. 

15 Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Regarding the suspension of 

16 funds, you stopped paying before Mack Energy suspended 

17 the funds; correct? 

18 A. Yes, s i r . 

19 Q. Suspended payment, excuse me, t o be more 

20 c o r r e c t . 

21 Now, I t h i n k -- r e f e r r i n g t o your E x h i b i t 9, I 

22 t h i n k you t e s t i f i e d t h a t i t ' s a f l a t d e c l i n e , a f a i r l y 

23 f l a t d e c line on t h i s ? 

24 A. Yes, s i r , I d i d . 

25 Q. But there has been a de c l i n e over the years. 
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1 I t looks l i k e , over the l a s t few years, i t ' s gone from 

2 700 b a r r e l s a month down t o below 600? 

3 A. I see December was 709, January was 606, 

4 February was 562 and-March was 602. I see t h a t . I t j u s t 

5 f l u c t u a t e d . I mean the w e l l could be down. I t 

6 f l u c t u a t e s . 

7 Q. But i t i s de c l i n i n g ? 

8 A. I'd say very l i t t l e d e c l i n e . 

9 Q. Just one more question. Did you ever prepare 

10 a JOA f o r t h i s w e l l and submit i t t o Mack Energy? 

11 A. No, s i r . 

12 MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, 

13 Mr. Chairman. 

14 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Mr. Dawson? 

15 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: One question. 

16 EXAMINATION 

17 BY COMMISSIONER DAWSON: 

18 Q. On t h i s E x h i b i t 9 i n your f o l d e r , on the 

19 Go-Tech Onguard s i n g l e w e l l r e s u l t s production data, t h i s 

20 only goes up t o March of 2012. Do you know what i t d i d 

21 f o r the l a s t three or fou r months? Because I'm sure i t ' s 

22 produced, and i t ' s not i n d i c a t e d on t h i s form. Do you 

23 have any idea what i t ' s produced i n the l a s t three or 

24 fo u r months? 

25 A. I t ' s been f l a t . I n J u l y , i t made 695 o i l , 609 
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1 on the gas, and 527 on the water. That's the l a t e s t 

2 r e p o r t t h a t we've received from Mack Energy. 

3 Q. So you would t h i n k t h a t A p r i l ' s , May's and 

4 June's data would be f a i r l y s i m i l a r t o t h a t 600- t o 

5 70 0-barrel range, maybe? 

6 A. Yes, s i r , I ' d assume t h a t . 

7 Q. And you say you operate several Abo wells? 

8 A. I n the Monument area, yes, s i r . 

9 Q. Have you ever fracked any of those wells? 

10 A. No, s i r . 

11 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I have no f u r t h e r 

12 questions. Thank you. 

13 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Just a couple of 

14 questions. 

15 EXAMINATION 

16 BY ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: 

17 Q. You may r e c a l l t h a t Mr. L i v i n g s t o n t e s t i f i e d 

18 t o 90,000 EUR on the w e l l . That's what I wrote down. 

19 What would your estimate of EUR be on the well? 

20 A. The w e l l ' s already cumed 82,000 b a r r e l s . I f 

21 i t goes out f o r another 20, 30 years, you could double 

22 t h a t . I do b e l i e v e , t o help the answer, most of the 

23 w e l l s i n the area cumed 200- t o 300,000 b a r r e l s , the ones 

24 t h a t have been a c i d i z e d w i t h the 8- t o 15,000 gallons of 

25 acid. That's what we came up w i t h i n our study. 
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1 Q. 200 t o --

2 A. 200,000 t o 300,000 . 

3 Q. With j u s t acid? 

4 A. Yes, s i r . But they're long l i f e , though. I 

5 mean i t takes q u i t e a number of years t o get there. 

6 Q. Twenty-five, 30 years? 

7 A. I can't r e c a l l the a c t u a l -- i t ' s probably 

8 l i k e 20 t o 40 years. 

9 Q. I f you had a JOA i n place, would you have 

10 approved the AFE? 

11 A. No, s i r , I ' d nonconsent. I f i t was a f a i r 

12 penalty, I ' d nonconsent. A c t u a l l y , I wouldn't want the 

13 w e l l fracked because I t h i n k there's a very good chance 

14 of t h a t water. I t ' s a ree f , and I t h i n k i t ' s uncommon t o 

15 f r a c k these Abo w e l l s . I haven't seen any data on before 

16 and a f t e r . 

17 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Those are my 

18 questions. Do you have any r e d i r e c t ? 

19 MR. HALL: No more questions of t h i s 

20 witness. 

21 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Then the witness 

22 may be excused. 

23 I t h i n k we w i l l adjourn f o r an hour and 15 

24 minutes. 

25 MR. HALL: That concludes our case. 
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1 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: A l l r i g h t . Then 

2 we w i l l adjourn f o r an hour and 15 minutes, u n t i l 1:15, 

3 at which p o i n t w e ' l l take c l o s i n g statements, I believe. 

4 (A lunch recess was taken.) 

5 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: We are reconvening 

6 around 1:20 p.m. 

7 At t h i s p o i n t we are t a k i n g c l o s i n g 

8 statements. 

9 MR. BRUCE: I would ask Mr. H a l l , since 

10 he's the de novo a p p l i c a n t , t o go f i r s t . 

11 MR. HALL: I' d be glad t o do t h a t . 

12 CLOSING STATEMENT 

13 BY MR. HALL: 

14 I ' l l t a l k t o you about the case t h a t the 

15 a p p l i c a n t i s b r i n g i n g before you today, Mack Energy 

16 Corporation, and t h a t i s what they p o r t r a y as a generic 

17 compulsory p o o l i n g case. So they're o b l i g e d t o present 

18 evidence t o you on several matters t h a t the Commission 

19 must make a f f i r m a t i v e f i n d i n g s on. You also cannot grant 

20 the compulsory p o o l i n g request. 

21 And one of those t h a t ' s developed throughout 

22 the years, i t ' s not found i n the compulsory p o o l i n g 

23 s t a t u t e s , but the Commission and the D i v i s i o n has 
24 r e q u i r e d f o r the past 3 0-plus years an app l i c a n t t o 

25 demonstrate t h a t i t was a c t i n g i n good f a i t h and made a 
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1 g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t t o secure the pooled party's v o l u n t a r y 

2 p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n the w e l l . And we challenged t h a t today. 

3 I t h i n k we presented proof t o you t h a t there was an 

4 absence of good f a i t h here. 

5 For other reasons outside of t h i s p a r t i c u l a r 

6 w e l l , the r e l a t i o n s h i p between t h i s operator and t h i s 

7 nonoperator, i t ' s not a good one. I t ' s not working. But 

8 I would submit t o you t h a t but f o r t h a t r e l a t i o n s h i p and 

9 i t s flaws, the production revenues would not have been 

10 placed i n suspense, and I don't t h i n k we would have seen 

11 t h i s sudden imminent proposal t o do a f r a c t u r e 

12 recompletion on a w e l l t h a t ' s been producing at a steady, 

13 f l a t r a t e of decline f o r a long time. We question the 

14 a p p l i c a n t ' s good f a i t h . 

15 The other f i n d i n g t h a t the Commission must 

16 make i s t h a t the a p p l i c a n t acted i n d i l i g e n c e -- w i t h 

17 d i l i g e n c e i n c o n s o l i d a t i n g i n t e r e s t s i n the w e l l . There 

18 i s no question t h a t both the compulsory p o o l i n g s t a t u t e s , 

19 70-2-17 and 70-2-18, impose an a f f i r m a t i v e duty on the 

20 operator t o consolidate i n t e r e s t s . 

21 Here we have a highly-experienced operator, 

22 Mack Energy. They know how the r u l e s work here i n New 

23 Mexico. They knew from the s t a r t t h a t there were diverse 

24 ownership i n t e r e s t s i n t h i s w e l l . A f t e r going from 100 

25 percent, i t went t o undivided i n t e r e s t s i n t h i s w e l l 
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1 beginning i n 2004. They were aware of t h e i r r i g h t under 

2 s t a t u t e t o consolidate i n t e r e s t s . They d i d n ' t do i t 

3 u n t i l there was a disagreement over other matters. 

4 How do they go about that? They suspend the 

5 other nonoperator's revenues, ;cut them o f f , i n c l u d i n g 

6 o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t revenues and i n c l u d i n g 

7 revenues generated by another w e l l t h a t ' s not the subject 

8 of the a p p l i c a t i o n . That i n d i c a t e s an absence of good 

9 f a i t h . 

10 And they waited u n t i l 2011 t o propose any 

11 p a r t i c i p a t i o n at a l l . I t f i r s t comes i n the form of an 

12 AFE, no other explanation, no t e c h n i c a l d e t a i l , and the 

13 nonoperator i s put i n a p o s i t i o n where he t r i e s t o 

14 evaluate the a d v i s a b i l i t y of doing the f r a c t u r e j o b . But 

15 he can't do i t , so he's l e f t t o do t h a t on h i s own. 

16 A f t e r the AFE, the next t h i n g t h a t comes i n 

17 the mail i s a compulsory p o o l i n g a p p l i c a t i o n i n November. 

18 And i t was only a f t e r the matter was set f o r hearing t h a t 

19 Texas counsel appeared on behalf of Mr. Ragsdale, and 

2 0 only on request of Texas counsel d i d Mack Energy 

21 Corporation d e l i v e r a form j o i n t o perating agreement. 

22 But I t h i n k t h a t the evidence, the testimony, 

23 demonstrated today t h a t i t was done w i t h the idea of 

24 p l a c i n g the nonoperator i n a p o s i t i o n where he would have 

25 t o waive r i g h t s w i t h respect t o the revenues t h a t had 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 128 

1 been u n f a i r l y w i t h h e l d from him. 

2 I t created an environment of what I t h i n k i s 

3 economic coercion. "Take my deal or leave i t , or we 

4 force pool you. And we're not going t o t e l l you what the 

5 deal i s u n t i l maybe a f t e r the f a c t . We're going t o send 

6 you a proforma operating agreement a f t e r the f a c t . " 

7 That's not good f a i t h . We don't t h i n k you can make a 

8 f i n d i n g of good f a i t h under these circumstances. 

9 D i l i g e n c e . I provided you, i f you look i n 

10 your e x h i b i t notebooks, copies of the app l i c a b l e s t a t u t e . 

11 And i t ' s under E x h i b i t Tab 10, and t h a t i s the s t a t u t e 

12 t h a t provides guidance f o r your actions here today. We, 

13 as attor n e y s , do our best t o t r y t o present f a c t u a l 

14 evidence t o you and then help you apply the law t o those 

15 f a c t s . 

16 This i s the compulsory p o o l i n g s t a t u t e t h a t 

17 applies here today. This i s the s t a t u t e t h a t establishes 

18 the duty -- unquestionable duty f o r an operator t o 

19 consolidate i n t e r e s t s . 

20 I agree w i t h Mr. Bruce's e a r l i e r statement 

21 today t h a t yes, an operator i s f r e e t o force pool a f t e r a 

22 w e l l i s d r i l l e d . That's c o r r e c t . But the question i s : 

23 When does a duty t o consolidate i n t e r e s t s a c t u a l l y 

24 accrue? The s t a t u t e s don't d i r e c t l y answer t h a t . But I 

25 t h i n k i f the duty i s on the books, I t h i n k the duty 
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1 accrues immediately. 

2 The Commission and the D i v i s i o n have had the 

3 o p p o r t u n i t y t o speak t o t h a t o b l i g a t i o n r e c e n t l y . And i f 

4 you would t u r n t o the order t h a t ' s under E x h i b i t Tab 11, 

5 t h i s i s a copy of Order Number R-13547. There was a 

6 question r a i s e d i n t h a t case about the f a i l u r e of an 

7 operator t o for c e pool a f t e r having d r i l l e d two C02 w e l l s 

8 up i n the Bravo Delaware area. 

9 The nonoperator challenged the absence of 

10 c o n s o l i d a t i o n and the absence of force p o o l i n g . And the 

11 order says, "Yes, even a nonoperator can make t h i s 

12 happen." So t h a t ' s what happened there. There was an 

13 a p p l i c a t i o n t o for c e pool brought by the nonoperator. 

14 I f you look through t h a t order, on page 3, I 

15 have h i g h l i g h t e d a f i n d i n g i n there which explains t h a t 

16 the s t a t u t e I've d i r e c t e d you t o , 70-2-18, poses an 

17 a f f i r m a t i v e duty of an operator t o consolidate i n t e r e s t s . 

18 The question has always been, "When does t h a t duty 

19 accrue?" And t h i s order answers t h a t question on the 

20 next page. 

21 I f you look at Conclusion Paragraph 3, we now 

22 know t h a t i t ' s the p o l i c y of t h i s agency t h a t i n t e r e s t s 

23 be consolidated p r i o r t o production. So I expect you 

24 w i l l see, w i t h more and more frequency i n the f u t u r e , 

25 compulsory p o o l i n g orders t h a t address an operator's 
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1 d i l i g e n c e where t h a t question has been r a i s e d . 

2 We r a i s e i t i n t h i s case. And we don't t h i n k 

3 t h a t , under these circumstances, you can make any f i n d i n g 

4 t h a t Mack Energy operated w i t h d i l i g e n c e . And we t h i n k 

5 t h a t precludes the Commission's a b i l i t y t o grant 

6 compulsory p o o l i n g r e l i e f . 

7 The other issue t h a t ' s p r e c i p i t a t e d by Mack's 

8 a p p l i c a t i o n i s the f r a c t u r e recompletion i t s e l f , whether 

9 i t ' s advisable, whether i t ' s warranted. There are 

10 s u b s t a n t i a l disputes about t h a t . And even the 

11 a p p l i c a n t ' s own expert c o n s u l t i n g witnesses sai d i t ' s not 

12 a sure t h i n g . I t may be a f i f t y - f i f t y p r o p o s i t i o n t h a t 

13 t h i s operation i s successful, even based on h i s own 

14 computer module. 

15 We presented evidence through Mr. Ragsdale 

16 t h a t r e f u t e s the need f o r a f r a c k job and shows t h a t t h i s 

17 i s a w e l l t h a t ' s been producing presumably r o y a l t i e s t o 

18 the State of New Mexico as w e l l f o r some time, w i t h a 

19 very steady, f l a t r a t e of d e c l i n e . 

2 0 Why do we want t o change that? Why i s t h a t i n 

21 the State's i n t e r e s t ? Why i s t h a t i n the nonoperator's 

22 i n t e r e s t , t o impose what we b e l i e v e i s unnecessary r i s k 

23 t o t h a t production? And the evidence shows t h a t the 

24 c u r r e n t completion i s more than adequate t o e f f i c i e n t l y 

25 and economically recover most of the producible reserves. 
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1 That brings us t o the request f o r r e l i e f t h a t 

2 we've asked the Commission t o a f f o r d Mr. Ragsdale and 

3 Siana under these p a r t i c u l a r circumstances. We've heard 

4 much about the r i g h t s of the p a r t i e s , as co-tenants i n 

5 the w e l l , t o some t h e o r e t i c a l e q u i t a b l e l i e n , e q u i t a b l e 

6 r i g h t t o suspend revenues. I j u s t disagree w i t h t h a t . 

7 There i s no equ i t a b l e l i e n i n New Mexico e i t h e r s t a t u t o r y 

8 or by c o n t r a c t . But t h a t doesn't matter here. 

9 I f you want t o make arguments of eq u i t y , you 

10 go t o an A r t i c l e I I I court t o make them. This i s the O i l 

11 Conservation Commission. We don't do eq u i t y . We do the 

12 O i l and Gas Act, pe r i o d . 

13 So what's the d i r e c t i o n t o the O i l Commission 

14 under circumstances l i k e t h i s , where a p a r t y has not been 

15 d i l i g e n t i n c o n s o l i d a t i n g i n t e r e s t s and comes t o you, 

16 asking f o r r e l i e f and the r e l i e f i s opposed? I t h i n k 

17 under circumstances l i k e t h i s , i f you t u r n back t o the 

18 s t a t u t e we h i g h l i g h t e d f o r you, i t i s again Section 

19 70-2-18, i t t e l l s you what you must do. 

2 0 Where an operator does not act w i t h d i l i g e n c e 

21 and purports t o operate a w e l l f o r years and years, 

22 doesn't bother t o consolidate i n t e r e s t by force p o o l i n g 

23 or otherwise, there are consequences i n New Mexico f o r 

24 t h a t . And they are set f o r t h i n Section 70-2-18.B, which 

25 we've h i g h l i g h t e d f o r you there. 
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1 And t h a t subsection says, i n essence, where an 

2 operator f a i l s t o act w i t h d i l i g e n c e , then he has no 

3 a u t h o r i t y t o recover operating expenses or overhead from 

4 the force-pooled i n t e r e s t . And so the other 

5 nonoperator's i n t e r e s t s who have not been consolidated i s 

6 e n t i t l e d t o be pa i d f o r h i s i n t e r e s t s as i f they were 

7 never force pooled, i n the absence of any a u t h o r i t y t o 

8 recover those costs. 

9 That's not an i n t e r p r e t a t i o n . This s t a t u t e i s 

10 not ambiguous. We aren't asking the Commission t o 

11 construe i t . We're asking the Commission t o apply i t i n 

12 t h i s p a r t i c u l a r circumstance. 

13 So what we're asking the Commission t o do i s 

14 u l t i m a t e l y provide t o Mr. Ragsdale and Siana r e l i e f i n 

15 the form of accounting; have Mack Energy d e l i v e r a f u l l 

16 and complete accounting f o r costs, expenses, overhead 

17 charges from 2004 t o the present; and then make payment 

18 f o r a l l the revenues, o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t 

19 revenues, working i n t e r e s t revenues and revenues 

20 a t t r i b u t a b l e t o the other w e l l payable t o Mr. Ragsdale, 

21 without deductions f o r those expenses up t o whatever 

22 p o i n t the i n t e r e s t s may, i n f a c t , be consolidated. 

23 I f there i s a question about the Commission's 

24 a u t h o r i t y t o a f f o r d r e l i e f l i k e t h a t , we t h i n k t h a t 

25 question was answered some time ago. Ms. Bail e y would 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
OOb02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 133 

1 remember t h i s case.. 

2 But i f I may approach the Commission? 

3 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: You may approach. 

4 MR. HALL: I've provided the Commission 

5 w i t h copies of Order Number R-1960-B. Both Mr. Bruce and 

6 I p a r t i c i p a t e d i n • t h a t case. And I'm sorry, I don't have 

7 another copy, Jim. 

8 But t h a t case, i n e f f e c t , provided t h a t an 

9 operator could come t o the Commission, or a p a r t y could 

10 come t o the Commission, and ask f o r accounting-type 

11 r e l i e f . And t h a t ' s the exact k i n d of r e l i e f t h a t was 

12 a f f o r d e d t o Energen Resources i n t h a t case. 

13 They were allowed t o render an accounting t o a 

14 nonoperating i n t e r e s t owner who had a production 

15 imbalance, but he had refused t o allow the operator t o 

16 market gas on h i s behalf or market on h i s own. That was 

17 c r e a t i n g a problem. So i n e f f e c t , what the Commission 

18 d i d i n t h a t case was allow f o r the r e n d i t i o n of an 

19 accounting and payment t o the i n t e r e s t owner w i t h 

20 i n t e r e s t . They s p e c i f i c a l l y allowed i n t e r e s t i n t h a t 

21 case. 

22 So there i s some precedent f o r the form of 

23 r e l i e f t h a t we're asking the Commission t o a f f o r d 

24 Mr. Ragsdale and Siana O i l and Gas i n t h i s case. 

25 With t h a t , I ' l l pause r i g h t now and see i f the 
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1 Commission has any questions of me w i t h respect t o the 

2 operation of the s t a t u t e or Mr. Bruce's arguments about 

3 the s t a t u t e he submitted i n h i s prehearing statement. 

4 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do you have any 

5 questions, Commissioner Dawson? 

6 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I don't have any 

7 questions 

8 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I have none, as 

9 w e l l . 

10 MR. HALL: I w i l l comment t o you t h a t we 

11 can a n t i c i p a t e Mr. Bruce t o argue t h a t what we're asking 

12 would be a m i s a p p l i c a t i o n of 70-2-18. And what h e ' l l say 

13 i s , "No. This only applies i n the case where there i s an 

14 owner of a t r a c t w i t h i n a p r o r a t i o n u n i t t h a t has not 

15 been j o i n e d . Then you must pay the owner of t h a t t r a c t 

16 as i f the i n t e r e s t s were not j o i n e d the f u l l 100 percent 

17 w i t h i n t e r e s t . " 

18 I t h i n k the s t a t u t e does provide f o r t h a t s o r t 

19 of r e l i e f i n t h a t circumstance, but i t provides f o r more 

20 than t h a t . I f you look t o the t i t l e of t h i s s t a t u t e 

21 i t s e l f , you have t o read the s t a t u t e as a whole. You 

22 cannot read s e l e c t i v e p r o v i s i o n s t o the disregard of 

23 others. 

24 The t i t l e i t s e l f addresses when there i s 

25 und iv ided mine ra l ownership w i t h i n a spacing u n i t . I f 
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1 you look at the t h i r d l i n e of subparagraph A, i t says --

2 w e l l , s t a r t i n g on l i n e 2, " I f two or more separately 

3 owned t r a c k s of land are embraced w i t h i n a spacing or 

4 p r o r a t i o n u n i t , " as Mr. Bruce w i l l advocate. I t also 

5 says, "or where there are owners of r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t s or 

6 undivided i n t e r e s t s i n o i l and gas or minerals which are 

7 separately owned i n the spacing u n i t or any combination 

8 th e r e o f , " t h i s i s the r e l i e f -- t h i s i s the a u t h o r i t y f o r 

9 the Commission t o provide f o r the recovery of revenues, 

10 and i t p r o h i b i t s the operator from recovering past 

11 expenses and overhead. 

12 I t h i n k there are p o l i c y reasons f o r t h a t . I 

13 t h i n k our O i l and Gas Act p u r p o s e f u l l y encourages the 

14 c o n s o l i d a t i o n of i n t e r e s t s . I t has a requirement. And 

15 i t 1 s been r e f i n e d by the recent R e l i a n t E x p l o r a t i o n order 

16 t h a t I've provided you t h a t says, "This i s what d i l i g e n c e 

17 means. You have t o do a l l of t h i s before there's 

18 production." We know t h a t ' s going t o be the r u l e i n New 

19 Mexico going forward. 

2 0 And where t h a t does not happen, here are the 

21 consequences. This i s not an i n t e r p r e t a t i o n by the 

22 Commission. This i s what the l e g i s l a t u r e t e l l s us t o do. 

23 That's what we're asking f o r . 

24 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do you have a 

25 c l o s i n g statement? 
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1 MR. BRUCE: Yes, s i r . 

2 CLOSING STATEMENT 

3 BY MR. BRUCE: 

4 F i r s t of a l l , accounting i s n ' t the issue. 

5 Mack has always given Mr. Ragsdale a l l the i n f o r m a t i o n he 

6 has ever asked f o r . And a l l he has t o do i s c a l l and ask 

7 f o r the data. That's been proven over and over and over 

8 again i n 2008, 2011, 2012. Mack has given him data every 

9 time he's asked f o r i t . 

10 Now, w i t h respect t o -- and I f o r g o t the order 

11 number. R -- i s i t 1920? 

12 MR. HALL: 1960-B. 

13 MR. BRUCE: 1960-B. Mr. H a l l and I were 

14 both i n v o l v e d i n t h a t case, t h a t ordered an accounting. 

15 That's not an issue. I would p o i n t out one s i g n i f i c a n t 

16 d i f f e r e n c e . 

17 That was where there was a poo l i n g order from 

18 about 45 years ago. And the operator, Energen, refused 

19 t o pay the nonoperator, my c l i e n t , on the production runs 

20 and said, "Sorry. Once the w e l l plays out, once i t goes 

21 dry i n 40 years, then we can have a s e t t l i n g of accounts 

22 between us." 

23 I t h i n k t h a t was p r e t t y u n f a i r by a large 

24 operator i n the s t a t e t o take against a s i n g l e person. 

25 So those cases -- t h a t case i s not r e a l l y on p o i n t here. 1 
i 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 137 

1 The second t h i n g t o get out of the way i s the 

2 suspension of funds. Mr. H a l l says the Commission 

3 doesn't do e q u i t y . I submitted some s t a t u t e s , E x h i b i t B, 

4 which i s 70-2-17, does. I n i t s heading, i t t a l k s about 

5 e q u i t a b l e a l l o c a t i o n of allowable production p o o l i n g and 

6 spacing. So there are elements of e q u i t y before the 

7 Commission. 

8 But regardless, regarding the suspension of 

9 funds, I agree w i t h Mr. H a l l . That i s an issue f o r a 

10 D i s t r i c t Court, not f o r t h i s Commission, t o decide. 

11 I would merely p o i n t out t h a t f o r seven years, 

12 Mr. Ragsdale g l a d l y accepted a l l the funds t h a t were h i s 

13 share of funds t h a t were from production from the w e l l . 

14 And then before t h a t time, he simply stopped paying h i s 

15 revenues. He was t a k i n g a f r e e r i d e . He was g e t t i n g h i s 

16 f o r nothing. I s Mack supposed t o continue along t h a t 

17 l i n e f o r years and years and years? I don't t h i n k so. 

18 Now, i n h i s c l o s i n g , Mr. H a l l made some 

19 statements about matters t h a t weren't i n evidence, and he 

20 also claims t h a t Mack d i d not act i n good f a i t h . I won't 

21 get i n t o good f a i t h or bad f a i t h on behalf of 

22 Mr. Ragsdale, but I w i l l p o i n t out a few t h i n g s . 

23 F i r s t of a l l , h i s p o s i t i o n s -- h i s two main 

24 p o s i t i o n s i n t h i s case are c o n t r a d i c t o r y . F i r s t he says, 

2 5 "There's no JOA i n place, and there should be one." But 
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1 he won't comment on one. He won't sign one. So Mack's 

2 only recourse i s t o force pool. 

3 Then he says, "Nope. You've got t o deny force 

4 p o o l i n g . " What i s Mack supposed t o do? And i n f a c t , 

5 he's a c t i v e l y p reventing any form of agreement from being 

6 put i n t o e f f e c t . 

7 Now, l e t ' s t a l k about the good f a i t h e f f o r t s . 

8 I p o i n t out t h a t again, as Ms. Sanders t e s t i f i e d , Mack 

9 d i d n ' t know there wasn't a JOA u n t i l August of 2 011. 

10 You're t a l k i n g about d i l i g e n c e ? W i t h i n a couple of 

11 months, we f i l e d f o r a force p o o l i n g . 

12 Now, again, Mr. Ragsdale himself never asked 

13 f o r a JOA f o r seven years. He apparently d i d n ' t t h i n k 

14 there was a JOA i n e f f e c t . He never t o l d Mack t h a t . He 

15 never asked f o r one from Mack. He never proposed one 

16 from Mack. He's a c t i n g l i k e the aggrieved p a r t y when, 

17 you know, he invested $33,000 i n a prospect t h a t has paid 

18 out 10 times t h a t much. He g l a d l y accepted the revenue. 

19 I w i l l agree w i t h Mr. H a l l t h a t i t ' s not i n 

2 0 evidence t h a t there are some other c o n f l i c t s between the 

21 p a r t i e s . But r e a l l y , t h a t ' s n e i t h e r here nor there when 

22 i t comes t o the g o o d - f a i t h e f f o r t s of the p a r t i e s . Since 

23 there i s no JOA, and since Mr. Ragsdale won't sign a JOA, 

24 Mack needs a p o o l i n g order t o s a t i s f y Mr. Ragsdale's 

25 complaints. 
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1 And I p o i n t out t h a t 70-2-17.C states t h a t the 

2 D i v i s i o n or Commission s h a l l pool, not may pool, s h a l l 

3 pool, a w e l l u n i t i f there i s no v o l u n t a r y agreement, and 

4 t h a t ' s what the Commission should do. 

5 Now, as t o good f a i t h , the p e r t i n e n t order 

6 t a l k i n g about what should be done before a p o o l i n g i s 

7 granted i s set f o r t h -- I d i d n ' t submit i t t o the 

8 Commission, but i t ' s Order Number R-13165. 

9 What i t says i s t h a t , "A p o o l i n g a p p l i c a n t 

10 should send t o a working i n t e r e s t owner a proposal, w i t h 

11 an AFE, at lea s t . 30 days before the f i l i n g of a po o l i n g 

12 a p p l i c a t i o n . " That was done by Mack. I t also states 

13 t h a t , "A JOA need not be sent w i t h the proposal, although 

14 one should be promptly f u r n i s h e d upon request." Mack d i d 

15 t h a t . 

16 Mr. Zabel, who i s Mr. Ragsdale's Texas 

17 attorney, asked f o r one about Thanksgiving. And w i t h i n 

18 two weeks, Mack had sent Mr. Ragsdale a JOA, I repeat 

19 myself, but he never responded t o i t . 

20 So a f t e r the JOA -- a f t e r the w e l l proposal 

21 was sent, Lee L i v i n g s t o n , Mack's engineer, had telephone 

22 discussions, not one, not two, but three w i t h 

23 Mr. Dauffer, of Siana, representing Mr. Ragsdale. He 

24 never asked any substantive questions about the AFE or 

25 the f r a c k procedure at a l l . 

PAUL BACA PROFESSIONAL COURT REPORTERS 
00b02803-643c-4822-9390-7a9c7ae72efe 



Page 140 

1 Mr..Ragsdale himself t e s t i f i e d t h a t he had 

2 extensive f r a c k experience and knew what questions t o 

3 ask. He never asked. He never c a l l e d Mr. L i v i n g s t o n . 

4 He never had Mr. Dauffer c a l l Mr. L i v i n g s t o n t o ask any 

5 s u b s t a n t i a l questions. 

6 He also got up and t e s t i f i e d t h a t Mr. Dauffer 

7 got the data and checked th i n g s out on h i s own. What 

8 else -- and then Mack sent the JOA. What else was Mack 

9 supposed t o do? They never received any response t o 

10 t h e i r proposals. 

11 I would p o i n t out t h a t n e g o t i a t i o n i s a 

12 two-way s t r e e t . You can't j u s t have one p a r t y proposing 

13 and the other one s i t t i n g on i t s hands. What else was 

14 Mack supposed t o do? Mack has followed D i v i s i o n p o l i c i e s 

15 on p o o l i n g and has s a t i s f i e d those requirements. 

16 The other c o n t r a d i c t o r y p o s i t i o n i s t h a t 

17 Mr. Ragsdale says i t ' s a very r i s k y procedure, but there 

18 should be no r i s k charge. Again, very c o n t r a d i c t o r y . 

19 The only way t o harmonize h i s c o n t r a d i c t o r y p o s i t i o n s i s 

20 t o enter a p o o l i n g order and assess a r i s k charge. 

21 Now, as t o r i s k f o r r e - e n t r y , l i f e i s not r i s k 

22 f r e e . But Mack's engineers t e s t i f i e d t h a t t h i s i s a 

23 reasonable proposal. We be l i e v e i t w i l l increase 

24 reserves on the w e l l , and there w i l l be s u b s t a n t i a l 

25 b e n e f i t s from the f r a c k procedure. And I would p o i n t out 
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1 t h a t Mack's engineers were here t o be cross-examined. 

2 Mr. Ragsdale's statements regarding Mr. Dauffer's alleged 

3 statement should be given the weight they are worth. 

4 As I s t a t e d i n my opening, the main job of the 

5 Commission i s t o prevent waste. And Mack's witnesses 

6 t e s t i f i e d t h a t waste w i l l be prevented i n two ways: 

7 There w i l l be incremental recovery of over 10,000 b a r r e l s 

8 of o i l . And because of accelerated recovery, the working 

9 i n t e r e s t owners w i l l save some $400,000 i n operating 

10 costs. D e f i n i t e l y , t h a t p r o t e c t s the c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s 

11 of the p a r t i e s and i t prevents waste. 

12 And I t h i n k j u s t one f i n a l comment, which i s 

13 l o o k i n g at -- and I would j u s t -- by the way, I don't 

14 f i n d d i l i g e n c e i n any of the p o o l i n g s t a t u t e s , and I 

15 t h i n k t h a t i s on a case-by-case basis. I would p o i n t out 

16 t h a t i n the case Mr. H a l l submitted as E x h i b i t 11, the 

17 d i f f e r e n c e i n t h a t case i s t h a t Oxy USA, the operator i n 

18 the w e l l , had never sought p o o l i n g i t s e l f . That i s 

19 t o t a l l y opposite of what we are here w i t h today, because 

20 the operator, Mack, is'seeking p o o l i n g . 

21 I would also p o i n t out t h a t i f you look at 

22 Mr. H a l l ' s E x h i b i t 10, 70-2-18, which I also submitted t o 

23 the Commission, Mr. H a l l made the argument t h a t 

24 Mr. Ragsdale should be e n t i t l e d e i t h e r t o the amount the 

25 i n t e r e s t would be e n t i t l e d t o i f p o o l i n g had occurred or 
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1 the amount t o which each i n t e r e s t owner i s e n t i t l e d , i n 

2 the absence of po o l i n g . But i t also states i n l i n e 1 

3 t h a t t h i s only.occurs i f the operator f a i l s t o apply f o r 

4 an order of the D i v i s i o n f o r p o o l i n g the lands dedicated 

5 t o the spacing u n i t . 

6 I would also p o i n t out t h a t i n subsection A 

7 above, "The p o o l i n g order i s e f f e c t i v e from the f i r s t 

8 production of the w e l l " -- t h a t ' s about i n the middle of 

9 t h a t paragraph. So when an operator f a i l s t o get a JOA 

10 or force pool, yes, there may be some v a l i d i t y t o what 

11 Mr. H a l l argues. But here, the operator i s force 

12 p o o l i n g . 

13 I t began the force p o o l i n g procedure w i t h i n a 

14 couple of months a f t e r i t found out t h a t there was no 

15 JOA. And the p o o l i n g agreement, under s t a t u t e , must be 

16 e f f e c t i v e as of the date of f i r s t production. Therefore, 

17 t h a t p o o l i n g order w i l l set f o r t h -- w i l l pool the 

18 i n t e r e s t s , w i l l set a r i s k penalty, and w i l l e s t a b l i s h 

19 overhead r a t e s from date of f i r s t production. 

2 0 And t h e r e f o r e , Mack submits t h a t t h i s claim 

21 t h a t Mr. Ragsdale doesn't have t o pay operating costs 

22 must f a i l , whether i t ' s under the po o l i n g s t a t u t e or i t ' s 

23 under under the B e l l e t v. Grynberg case, which i s the 
| 

24 a p p l i c a b l e Supreme Court precedent. We'd ask t h a t the 
1 1 

25 Commission enter i t s order p o o l i n g the acreage and S 
i 
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1 assessing a 200 percent penalty. Thank you. 

2 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: At t h i s time, I 

3 beli e v e w e ' l l go i n t o closed session, during which time 

4 we w i l l only discuss Case 14763, the a p p l i c a t i o n of Mack 
i 

5 Energy f o r compulsory po o l i n g , Lea County, New Mexico. 1 

6 1 
MR. BRANCARD: Can we get a motion? \ 

7 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. j 
\ 

8 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I w i l l second the 
j 

9 
i 

motion. A l l i n favor? 

10 And we w i l l now go i n t o closed session. 

11 (Whereupon the Commission went i n t o executive session.) 

12 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: Do we have a 

13 motion t o come back i n t o open session? 

14 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l motion. | 

15 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I w i l l second. j 

16 A l l i n favor? j 

17 1 
MR. BRANCARD: For the record, the only j 

18 matters discussed i n closed session were matters r e l a t e d 

19 t o t h i s case --

20 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: -- Case 14 763, 1 
1 

21 the a p p l i c a t i o n of Mack Energy Corporation f o r compulsory j 

22 pool i n g , Lea County, New Mexico. S 
\ 

23 
j 

A l l r i g h t . Our f i n d i n g s are t h a t we grant the ) 

24 a p p l i c a t i o n f o r compulsory p o o l i n g and deny the motion t o J 

25 
i 

dismiss the a p p l i c a t i o n . We found t h a t the conditions | 

1 
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1 s e t f o r t h i n t h e D i v i s i o n o r d e r a re reas o n a b l e and t h e 

2 evidence s u p p o r t s t h e D i v i s i o n ' s d e c i s i o n . 

3 So we would l i k e f i n d i n g s and c o n c l u s i o n s i n 

4 two weeks. And we w i l l d r a f t a new o r d e r t h a t w i l l 

5 e s s e n t i a l l y m i r r o r t h e D i v i s i o n o r d e r , w i t h some 

6 m o d i f i c a t i o n s as t o how we g e t t o t h a t p o i n t . I f an 

7 agreement i s found t o be made b e f o r e t h a t o r d e r i s 

8 d r a f t e d s i m i l a r t o t h e language i n t h e D i v i s i o n o r d e r , 

9 t h e n t h e o r d e r w i l l no l o n g e r be i n p l a c e . 

10 MR. BRUCE: Thank you. 

11 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: M o t i o n t o adj o u r n ? 

12 COMMISSIONER DAWSON: I w i l l m o t i o n . 

13 ACTING CHAIRMAN BALCH: I w i l l second. 

14 A l l i n f a v o r ? So we are a d j o u r n e d . 
15 * * * 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 
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